
8456 

Colloquy of Court and Counsel 

Mr. ::McGohey: Both the Court and myself have 
jndicated that the part that deals with what is hap­
pening or is said to be happening in India is not 
relevant to the case. 

The Court: Is there any other part of the first 
feature of the offer that is in the same category 
with the reference to India~ 

Mr. McGohey: '\Veil, there are other parts 
that I think are repetitious, your Honor. 

Mr. Sacher: If Mr. McGohey will be good 
enough to put a circle around India there, I will 
keep it out. 

Mr. McGohey: Well, if the Court please, on 
page 16, next to the last paragraph, beginning with 
the words "Let me sum up on this general point''­

The Court: Yes. 
Mr. :McGohey: -I would suppose if you went 

from there to the end of the paragraph on page­
to the end of the paragraph which begins at the bot­
tom of page 16 and encompasses the first six lines 
on page 17-

The Court: Going down to the word "justify". 
Which is the part that you desire to have excluded? 
The part about India I have got clearly in my mind. 

Mr. McGohey: I would think, your Honor, that 
every part of this offer up to what is the next to 
the (T-9565) last paragraph on page 16, because 
page 16, that next to the last paragraph, is a sum­
mary of all that has gone before. 

The Court: Oh, yes. But they say things in 
so many different ways, that-it says it is a sum­
mary but maybe it is not. I suppose we are to take 
that as though it were a summary. 

Well, I will receive at the moment the three 
paragraphs beginning at the bottom of page 17 and 
going to the bottom of page 18, and after that has 
been marked, and while it is being read, I will study 
further that first part which begins on page 14. 

(Marked Defendants' Exhibit 8 x Z-5 in evi. 
dence.) 
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Q. Are you a little bit tired, ~{r. Davis~ Would you 
like me to read it to the jury1 A. All right. 

Mr. Sacher: Now, there is no use reading the 
book backwards, but here it is. It begins at the 
bottom of page 17 : 

''Another important question we shall have to 
study n1uch more than we have done in this session 
is the concrete relations of the Negro nation to 
the American nation as a whole. In the past, when 
we first developed the self-determination slogan, 
we brushed this question aside very cavalierly. 
There was a tendency to plun1p for a Negro Republic. 
But (T-9566) the situation is much more com­
plicated than that. Talk of an American Negro 
Republic has no foundation in present-day reality. 
The relation of two or more peoples to each other 
within broader states is an extremely complicated 
one and assumes manv forms in different nations. 
We have to become ve"'ry familiar with these forms, 
especially as we begin to popularize the slogan of 
self-determination among the Negro people. I, for 
one, have no doubt that before very long, when we 
find the way of advancing the slogan more skill­
fully, the Negro people will begin to accept it. 
Especially I felt this when I listened to our b:dlliant 
young Negro Marxists discuss this question at this 
National Committee meeting." 

This is part of Mr. Foster's speech that I am 
reading. 

''The last point I want to touch upon is the 
practical use of the self-determination slogan in 
the national liberation struggle of the Negro peo­
ple. We did not deal with this practical question 
sufficiently in our discussion. What we have done 
mostly has been to establish the validity of the 
slogan. The practical use we are going to make 
of the slogan in the struggle is going to take much 
more study (T-9567) than we have given it here. 
There are two things I am sure of: first, that this 
slogan is not going to be put on the shelf as one 
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comrade indicated; and second, that we are not 
going to go to the sectarian extreme of using it to 
propagandize for the setting up of a Negro Republic. 
We have got to find the proper methods of using 
this slogan. In my opinion, our use of it will be 
pretty much in an educational sense in the begin­
ning. But experience will teach us in this matter. 
Slogans are often two-edged swords. They can 
do great harm if wrongly applied, and this slogan 
can only be of value to us if we use it properly. 

"Now, comrades, this is all I have to say on 
the question of self-determination. In this meeting, 
although we have not discussed all phases of the 
question, we have certainly discussed the funda­
mental ones. This is very important. In my opinion 
we have established a correct and basic attitude 
toward the general question during the course of 
the discussion. We should, therefore, on the basis 
of our discussion, endorse Comrade Ben Davis' 
report and our draft resolution.'' 

(T-9568) The Court: Well, I ·will receive from 
the fourth paragraph on page 14 over to the end 
of the first full paragraph on page 16, and omit 
the rest. We probably have just got time enough 
io read that. 

(Marked Defendants' Exhibit 8 x Z-6 received 
in evidence.) 

Mr. Sacher: This is the first part of Mr. Foster's 
speech: 

"What have we been saying in this discussion? 
We have been re-examining the whole theoretical 
basis of our approach to the Negro question, not 
simply the application of the self~determination 
slogan. During the course of this discussion, we 
have clearly established three or four fundamental 
propositions regarding the mooted question of self­
determination in the Black Belt of the South. 

''First, that the Negro people in the Black Belt 
are a nation, that they possess the essential qualities 
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of nationhood, as elaborated in the ·words of that 
great expert on the national question, Stalin. This 
lays a firm basis for the self-determination slogan. 
So I will not deal further with this basic matter of 
whether or not the Negroes in the Black Belt are 
a (T-9569) nation. 

''Secondly, we have made an important con­
tribution in ans,:~,·ering a question that has puzzled 
our comrades for the past twenty years, namely, why, 
if the Negro people are a nation, don't they put 
forth the slogan of self-detern1ination. Funda­
mentally, the reason is that they are essentially a 
young nation, a developing nation. A nation has 
to be at a certain stage of political growth before 
it advances the den1and for self-determination. As 
a number of comrades have pointed out, all over 
the world there are to be found peoples who do 
not advance the slogan of self-determination. We 
have had one illustration fron1 India. I might add 
further that there are some 18 distinct peoples in 
India, with very fe\v of then1 advancing the slogan 
of self-determination. Nevertheless the Communist 
Party of India does advance this slogan in their 
name. 

''Nations are a matter of growth, of course. Our 
own nation took some 150 years at least before it 
had developed a real national consciousness, until 
it advanced the slogan of self-determination, back­
ing it up to the point of separation from Great 
Britain. Of course, the N·egro people in the United 
States are developing under far more complicated 
and difficult (T-9570) circumstances than did the 
13 American colonies. 

"It has been pointed out in this general connec­
tion (and I think this throws much light on the 
question) that some of the nations of India are 
advancing their self-determination slogan under the 
guise of religion. It is also true that in certain 
circumstances national slogans are put out by other 
peoples in primitive or in distorted forms, for ex­
ample, as racial slogans. One of the characteristics 
of the American Negro people has been that they, 
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too have put out \vhat are basically national slogans 
very largely in a racial sense. Hence we have to 
look more closely than we have in t~e past at these 
racial slogans and at the conceptions the Negro 
people have with rega'rd to race and racial oppres­
sion. Behind these prevalent concepts of race are 
actually developing nation~l _concepts: . I t~ink the 
discussion has proved that 1t IS no dec1s1ve s1gn that 
a people does not constitute a nation if it does not 
advance clear-cut slogans for self-detern1ination. 

''Thirdly, our discussion has shed considerable 
light on another very ele1nenta~y 1natter, bearing 
directly upon the central question of whether or 
not the Negro people in the Black Belt are a na­
tion, (T-9571) and on the slogan of self-deter­
mination. Some comrades in the discussion have 
said that the Negro people are not only not now a 
nation but also that they are not moving in the di­
rection of becoming a nation. To help clear up 
this matter we have pretty clearly shown in our 
discussion what the orientation, or general course 
of development of the Negro people, really is. This 
orientation is developing along two general lines: 

''First, the Negro people most distinctly feel 
themselves to be Americans in the fullest sense of 
the word and they are fighting resolutely for full 
participation in all phases of American life on the 
basis of complete economi~, political and social 
equality. The second main trend in the orientation 
of the Negro people is to unify their own ranks on 
a national basis and to develop more and more 
systematically a definite national consciousness. 
One of the most important developments in this 
respect has to do with the change that has already 
been noted by some comrades, namely, that the 
Negro people no longer speak of themselves so much 
as a race, but rather as a people. When the Negro 
people begin to designate themselves as a people 
rat~er than as a race, they are already taking a long 
stnde (T-9572) in the direction of national con­
sciousness.'' 
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The Court : Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, 
ren1ember the admonition I have heretofore given 
you: Do not discuss the case an1ong yourselves 
and do not let the rna tter be discussed by anyone 
with you. You will express no opinion of the merits 
of this controversy until finally submitted to you 
under the instructions of the Court. 

We ·will now take a recess until 10.30 tomorrow 
morning. 

(T-9573) 

(Adjourned to July 12, 1949, at 10.30 a. m.) 

New York, July 12, 1949; 
10.30 a.m. 

TRIAL RESUMED 

BENJAMIN J. DAvis, resumed the stand. 

(The clerk confers with the Court.) 

The Court: Mr. Sacher, are you the only lawyer 
here besides Mr. Dennis this morningT 

1vfr. Sacher: I am, your Honor. 
The Court: Let the record show that the jury is 

present, and the defendants and the attorneys for 
the defendants, with the exception of Mr. Gladstein, 
Mr. Crockett, Mr. Isserman, and Mr. McCabe, con­
cerning whom I am informed the usual stipulation 
is being prepared for signature and filing, and the 
attorneys for the Government are present. 

Very well, Mr. Sacher. 

Direct examination continued by Mr. Sacher: 

Q. Mr. Davis, I show you Defendants' Exhibit 8 x Z-2 
for identification, and ask you to tell the Court and jury 
what that exhibit is (handing) 1 A. That is excerpts from 
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the concluding remarks of Eugene Dennis at the December 
3rd to 5th session of the National Co1n1nittee in 1946. 

( ( T -957 4) Q. Did you hear hin1 make the remarks 
which are set forth in this exhibit 8 x Z-2 for identification? 
A. I did. 

l\1r. Sacher: I offer 8 x Z-2 for identification in 
evidence (handing to 1\!Ir. McGobey). 

l\1r. l\fcGohey: This is objected to, your Honor, 
and I call your IIonor 's attention to the opening 
paragraph (handing to Court). 

The Court (After examining) : l\Ir. Sacher, did 
Mr. Davis testify that his report had been approved 
by those who were present? 

Mr. Sacher: I believe he did, your Honor. 
The Court: And I take it that l\Ir. Dennis was 

one of the ones \Vho supported your report in the 
matter~ 

The Witness: Yes. 
The Court: According to your recollection 1 
The Witness: He was. 
Mr. Sacher: If it please the Court, I should like 

to n1ake this observation, if I may. 
The Court: Yes, you may. 
Mr. Sacher: The spelling out of the question of 

self-determination and the political setting in the 
country and circumstances in which it may be real­
ized, and the significance and meaning of the term 
"self-determination," as expressed by the secretary 
of the Communist Party at (T-9575) that session 
of the National Committee seems to me to be a very 
illuminating factor in the ultimate determination 
of the adoption of the resolution, and I think it is 
important to observe that it was not merely Mr. 
Davis's report which was approved but it was the 
ultimate adoption of the resolution which was signi­
ficant, and therefore the remarks made in support 
of the thesis contained in Mr. Davis's report as well 
as in the culminating resolution assumed importance, 
and I would therefore urge the Court to-

The Court: Why is it not sufficient to have it as 
it now stands, to show that l\!Ir. Dennis supported 
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1fr. Davis's position, and Mr. Davis has stated his 
position at great length~ 

Mr. Sacher: I should like particularly-
1 The Court: You see, it is the endless repetition 

which has distressed me for many weeks. 
:Mr. Sacher: This is the only other exhibit I have 

on the question of self-determination, and your 
Honor will recall with the exception of Mr. Davis's 
printed report, which I wish to offer but I do not 
want to read, of course, from this-I \vould like to 
invite your Honor's attention to the last three para­
graphs on page 25 and ending at the top of page 26 
of Exhibit 8 x Z-2. 

( T -9576) The Court: All right, let me read 
those. 

(After examining) Well, it iR juRt a question of 
verbiage. It seems to me that he is saying there ex­
actly what Mr. Davis said on the witness stand yes­
terday and when 1fr. Davis says, as he just has here 
a n1oment ago, that l\fr. Dennis supported his posi­
tion, and he has already stated his position clearly, 
it becomes a clear case of repetition. 

Mr. Sacher: Your Honor, I don't think when a 
due regard is had for the intent of Mr. Dennis's 
statement, and more particularly the next to the last 
paragraph on page 25-I feel circumscribed in not 
spelling out what I am referring to because I don't 
want to 1nake a specific reference in the presence of 
the jury. · 

The Court: I think it is quite proper that you 
do have that diffidence about it. 

Mr. McGohey, that last full paragraph on page 
25 has a reference to the Progressive Presidential 
ticket-

Isn't that what you mean, Mr. Sacher' 
JYir. Sacher : No, your Honor; I meant the one 

preceding that, as well as the first one. I think that 
next to the last paragraph I mentioned, your Honor, 
that expreses an idea. 

Mr. McGohey: Which one1 
(T-9577) The Court: Well, I am going to sus­

tain the objection. I think it is just clear repetition. 
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I thought you had reference to that part I spoke of, 
but as you have not the rest is sufficiently before the 
jury now. 

1fr. Sacher: I don't think it is, your Honor. I 
should like to call your attention to the testimony 
of Nowell on this very question. 

The Court: I don't want to hear any more argu­
ment on this, 1\Ir. Sacher. You see, you have been 
several days on these prelilninaries. 

1Ir. Sacher: Your Ifonor, I have been exactly 
one and one half days with lV1r. Davis. We had an 
hour on Thursday, one hour on Friday, and yester­
day was the first full day. That is all we had with 
Mr. Davis. 

The Court: I think it would. be better to get on. 
I don't think I desire any 1nore argument as to this 
particular offer. 

Mr. Sacher: I should like to point out that Mr. 
Now ell was on the stand considerably more than Mr. 
Davis and so was :Mr. Cummings and so were other 
prosecution witnesses. 

The Court: They testified to things quite close 
to the charge here, but let's not argue that. I am 
excluding this because it is repetition, not because I 
(T-9578) deem it irrelevant. 

~1r. Sacher: May I trouble your Honor for the 
original, if you have it 1 

The Court:: Yes, it is right here (handing). 

By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. Now 1\fr. Davis, at page 5094 of the transcript there 
'!as introduced Exhibit 99 which purported to be a registra­
tion card of the witness Cummings in which it appeared 
that there were boxes labeled "1vian " "Woman" 
"Negro." "White," and that he was asked 'to check off the 
approximate box. Do you recall that exhibit? A. I do. 

Q. Will you please tell the Court and jury what tl1e 
purpose of the Party was in eliciting that information 1 A. 
Well, in our understanding-

. Mr. McGohey: If the Court please, before this 
witness answers, may I have just a moment Y 
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The Court: Yes. 
:Mr. 1\fcGohey: I object to that question. 
The Court: I was wondering what he knew about 

it or, perhaps you 1night ask sonw preliminary ques­
tions. I was just referring to Cummings' testimony 
here. Let's see, this was Toledo, Ohio, wasn't it 7 

Mr. Sacher: That is right. 

(T-9579) By the Court: 

Q. 1\tir. Davis, was there some time when in the National 
Board there was a resolution or determination made to the 
effect that in enrolling in the Party that there should always 
be sought information as to the color of the person apply­
ing for membership 1 A. There was discussion. 

Q. The first answer is either yes, that there was; or 
no, that there was not. A. There was Jiscussion at the 
Board at various tin1es relative to membership books and 
application cards. 

Q. You se·e, that isn't exactly what I asked you. 

Mr. Sacher: May I perhaps put the question Y 
The Court: No, you will just wait until I get 

through. 

Q. Was there a time ·when the Board, the National 
Board, passed a resolution or otherwise decided that in 
connection with applications for membership in the Com­
munist Party the applicant should indicate whether he was 
a Negro or white? A. There was a time in the Board when 
the specific application books and forms and re-registration 
cards 'vere approved by the Board, yes. 

The Court: I see, and those registration cards 
had on them the matter I mentioned? 

The Witness: That is right. 
The Court: To show whether a person was Negro 

or whitef 
The Witness: Yes. 

(T-9580) By 11-fr. Sacher: 

Q. It had other things too, did it not, Mr. Davis­

The Court: Oh, yes, yes. 
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Q. -such as-
:Mr. 1vicGohey: I object to this. The card is in 

evidence, your Honor. 
Mr. Sacher: What is-
The Court: But it is obvious that it did have 

other matters on there too. 
Now, JYir. Sacher, instead of asking him what 

was the purpose, I think you should ask him what the 
discussion was or what was put in the resolution or 
decision about it. 

Mr. Sacher: Now, if it please the Court, the 
witness Budenz was permitted, without n1eeting the 
requirements of time, place, discussion, who was 
present, etc., to answer questions such as, What was 
the purpose of various things. And I respectfully 
submit that if it was proper to permit such a question 
to Budenz, it is proper to put it to ~:1r. Davis. The 
precise question, what was the purpose of such 
things, was put and allowed over our objection. 

The Court: Well, I have no recollection of this 
specific matter being put to 1\fr. Budonz. It may be 
that at the early part of the trial and before I under­
stood, as fully as I came to later, the issues, and the 
type of questions and the prolonged character of the 
things we (T-9581) had to handle here, I n1ay 
have on one or two occasions permitted questions 
that I decided later I would not. You know, in a 
long trial like this there are serious administrative 
problems, and they aren't all apparent to a judge at 
the outset. It may well be that I did permit certain 
questions to be put to Mr. Budenz, I don't remember 
the particular one, but I am not going to permit the 
question to this witness of what was the purpose 
because I have found that that n1erely leads to a 
long speech and does not cast very much light on it. 

Now, if there was discussion, if there was some 
particular way in which the matter came up and was 
included in a resolution or in a determination made, 
then it seems to n1e that it is admissible, and the 
purpose and intent become something different. 
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Q. Mr. Davis, was there a meeting of ~he Nation~l Bo~rd 
after the reconstitution of the Communist Party 111 whiCh 
there was discussed the question of taking a census of the 
membership of the Con1n1unist Party~ 

Mr. McGohey: May I have the thne fixed¥ 
1\fr. Sacher: First I must have~ 
The Court: Yes. 
~Ir. Sacher: I wish to object to these interrup­

tions "May I have the time~" before the question 
is even answered. There may be no occasion for the 
time it is answered (T-9582) "No." 

The Court: You get excited without the slightest 
justification. You get yourself into a perfec,t heat 
this way. 

Mr. Sacher: No, I mn being interrupted with 
this "vVhat is the ti1ne~", "\Yhnt is the time~". 
Just let the question be answered first and 've will 
see whether there is occasion for it. 

The Court: I think you will remember, Mr. 
Sacher, that witnesses for the defense here, w.,.ith the 
possible exception of 1\:fr. Davis, 'vho has been better 
than the others were, instead of giving a clear, sim­
ple answer to a question and then permitting the 
usual interrogation to proceed-we have had wit­
nesses who, whatever the question was, have pro­
ceeded to go on into all sorts of things. Now, I think 
that your question as put is a perfectly proper pre­
linlinary question and it was your intent to bring 
out the time and place. 

So that if the reporter will read the question, I 
think we will get along without any trouble. 

Q. (Read.) A. There was. 
Q. Do you recall when that me·eting took place f A. 

Well, I cannot recall exactly when. I think that it took 
place, I an1 sure, between the period of the emergency con­
vention in July and the end of the year. I would say 
(T-9583) perhaps a couple of months after the emergency 
convention in July. 

Q. Do you recall who was present at that meeting? A. 
Well, J\fr. Williamson was present, and Mr. Dennis, and Mr. 
Foster, and Mr. Green-no, I am wrong about Mr. Green; 
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as I recall he wasn't present, but I think 1\ir. Stachel was 
present a~d those are all I recall at this moment. 

Q. And do you recall what the discussion in regard to 
the census was? A. Yes. 

:Mr. lVIcGohey: I object to that, your Honor. 
The Court: "r as this the time when they ap­

proved these forms of application for metnbership, 
Mr. Davis1 

The Witness : Yes, yes. 
The Court: I will allow it. You may answer. 

A. As I recall, there was a discussion concerning the whole 
organizational problmns and status and apparatus of the 
Party. 

'Vith respect to these particular registration cards or, 
rather, to registration cards and their content, it was 
pointed out that it was necessary to have a census in our 
Party with respect to both men and women, and workers­
frotn wbat unions they came, from CIO or AFL or inde­
pendent unions-and also with reference to Negro and 
white. (T-9584) And with reference to Negro and white 
this discussion-it was stated that it came frmn the fact 
that our Party consistently regarded the Negro question 
as a special question and that the designation-the num­
ber of Negroes in our Party was a sign of the Party's 
health in the battle for the rights of the Negro people; and 
that the only way, the surest test and the surest guide of 
the health of our Party in the struggle of our Party on 
the question of Negro rights ·was the extent to which we 
had large InCinbership, and that was due to the fact that 
we always considered the Negro workers and the Negro 
people the most oppressed section of the population. 

Then also, on the question of-

The Court: Did they need to do all that talking 
about this 1 

The Witness: Oh yes, we discussed everything 
quite thoroughly because we know that sooner or later 
s01nebody is going to try to take advantage of the 
things we do in this view. And so a second reason 
why designation exists is in order to make sure that 
at all times in our Party there is a promotion and 
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development of Negro workers who haven't been 
in the labor movement and had experience that white 
workers have over a long period of time. 

So, tl1erefore, the designation "Negro and white" 
facilitated our Party's own fight against the Jim 
Crow system, quite different from the designation 
"Negro and white' 'in most organizations, 'vhich is 
for the purpose of Jim Crow. 

(T-9585) Q·. Now :Nfr. Davis, I wish to direct your at­
tention to the foiiowing testimony given by the witness 
Younglove at page 4924 where he testified as follows, under 
examination by Mr. Wallace: 

'' Q. Mr. Younglove, I believe you testified yesterday 
that Government's E:x.hibit 97, this outline, was used by you 
at this school from about the n1iddle of September of 1946 
to some time in October 1946; is that correct? A. That is 
correct. 

"Q. On the last day that you attended school, in Oc­
tober of 1946, was there a meeting held~ A. There was. 

"Q. Was there a speaker at the meetingf A. There 
was. 

''Q. Who was the speaker? A. Ralph .Shaw. 
'' Q. Will you tell us your best recollection of what 

Ralph Shaw said at this meeting? A. Ralph Shaw stated 
that he had just returned from a National Committee meet­
ing that had been ·called by the National Board, and at this 
meeting a personal representative of Stalin spoke, who 
.said that war was near and may ·come about at any time, 
and if it did, we must be prepared to go underground; an~ 
then Shaw 1said himself at this meeting-he was quoting this 
representative; (T-9586) now this is what Shaw said­
' If war does come about, we will do all we can as Party 
workers to sabotage the war effort.' '' 

Do you recall that testimony, Mr. Davis? A. I do. 
Q. Was there any National Committee meeting in Oc­

tober 1946? 

Mr. McGohey: .Objection. 
The Court: Mr. Borman, will you get that 

volume for me, please? 
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All I am looking to see is whether Mr. Young­
love testified that there had been a meeting in Oc­
tober. 

Mr. l\icGohey: He said that Shaw said there was. 
Mr. Sacher: He said that Shaw said he had just 

returned in October 19,46 from a National Committee 
meeting, and I am asking Mr. Davis as to whether 
there was a National Conunittee meeting. 

The Court : I will allow it. 

A. Not to my recollection. 
Q. Well, was there or wasn't there, Mr. Davis, in Oc­

tober 1946 a meeting of the National Committee~ 

Mr. McGohey: If the Court please, this is direct 
examination. I submit the question has been an­
swered. 

(T-9587) The Court: Well, I 'viii permit him to 
ask a further question. I will overrule the objection. 

Read me back the first question and answer, Mr. 
Reporter. 

(Question and answer read as follows:) 

"Was there any National Committee meeting in 
October 1946 7 A. Not to my recollection.'' 

The Court: Now what was the next question1 

(Question read as follows:) 

"Well, was there or wasn't there, Mr. Davis, in 
October 1946 a meeting of the National Committee¥'' 

A. There was not. 
Q. W'hat was the last National Committee meeting-

Mr. Sacher: I will withdraw that, your Honor. 
The Court: That was a National Board meeting 

you are talking about, the second one? 
Mr. Sacher: No. The witness said ''National 

Committee'' and I have asked about ''National Com­
mittee.'' 

The Court : All right. . 
Mr. Sa~her: And when I say "the witness" I 

mean Younglove. 
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The Court : Well, the question you just put to 
]vir. Davis was about a National Committee meet-

ing7 . 
Mr. Sacher : Yes, your Honor. 
(T-9588) Mr. Gordon: Younglove didn't say 

there was a meeting. He said Shaw said so. 
The Court: That's all right. Now go ahead. 
Mr. Sacher: Well, I just wanted him to conduct 

his own trial. 
The Court: This is all ·caused by the fact that 

I had in my own notes "National Board," and I 
wanted to correct it, and I did correct it. 

Now go ahead. 

By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. Was there-you testified yesterday that there was a 
meeting in July 1946 at which you were named chairman 
of the Legislative Committee; is that right, Mr. Davis? A. 
Yes, sir. 

Q. Now what was the next National Committee meeting 
in the year 19461 A.. In December 1946. 

Q. And was that December 1946 National Committee 
meeting the meeting at which you submitted your report 
in regard to the Negro question to which you testified yes­
terday~ A. It was. 

(Marked Defendants' Exhibit 9 x A for identi­
fication.) 

(T-9589) Q. Now Mr. Davis, ever since you have been 
a member of the National Committee and National Board 
of the Communist Party, has there ever been a personal 
representative of any other Communist Party at a meeting 
of the National Committee? A. Not that I can recall. 

Q. Specifically, was there ever a personal or other rep­
resentative of Stalin present at any National Committee 
meeting since you have been a member of the National 
Board and National Committee of the Communist Party 
since 1945 1 A. No; that is absurd. 

( T-9590) Q. Has any such representative either of 
Stalin or of any other Communist Party ever been present 
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at any meeting of the National Board of the Communist 
Party? A. No. 

Q. Since you have been a member of that body? A. No. 
Q. Now Mr. Davis, I show you Defendants' Exhibit 9 

x A for identification, and ask you what it is 1 A. That is a 
printed copy of the report which I delivered to the Decem­
ber. 1946 National Committee meeting on the question of 
self-determination. 

By the Court: 

Q. That is the one that you gave us a long oral descrip­
tion of yesterday, is it not? A. No, that is part of it. 

Q. What~ A. That is part of it. 
Q. You were asked to state what was your report and, 

according to my recollection, you went on for some little 
time telling the jury and me what the report was. A. I 
said· that my report to the National Committee meeting 
wa:s divided into two sections, one dealing with the question 
of self-determination and one dealing with many current 
analyses of the problems of the Negro people. 

Q. Well, when you said it was divided into two parts 
you went on to describe it-in fact, I have several (T-9591) 
pages of notes with various subdivisions and so on. Wasn't 
that this same report~ A. That was a part of the report, 
only that part of the report that was printed that had to do 
with the question of self-determination. 

The Court: Very well. 

By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. Now 1\ir. Davis, was there at the meeting of Decem­
ber 3rd to 5th a dis·cussion by the members of the National 
Committee concerning the publication and circulation of 
your report, or a portion thereof' A. Yes, it was agreed 
that that section of my report should be published and 
printed. ' 

The Court : Will you read the question t 
(Question read.) 

The Court: And now the answer. 

(Answer read.) 

LoneDissent.org



8473 

Benjamin J. Davis-Defendant-Direct 

The Court: It doesn't make any sense to me. 

Q. Which section do you refer to when you say "that 
section of my report''~ A. The section of the report deal­
ing with the question of self-determination. That section 
which you have in your hand. 

Q. And do you say that the exhibit 9 x .A. for identifica­
tion constitutes that portion of your report which con­
cerned itself with the question of self-determination 7 
(T-9592) A. Yes. 

Q. And is Exhibit 9 x A-I withdraw that, your Honor. 
Q. Do you know when Defendants' Exhibit 9 x .A. for 

identification was printed, Mr. Davis' .A.. I think in the 
early part of 194 7-~f arch or .April. 

The Court: It says April 1947. 

Q. It says April1947. Does that refresh your recollec­
tion as to when it was published~ .A.. Yes. 

Q. Do you know about how many copies of Defendants' 
Exhibit 9 x A for identification were printed Y 

Mr. McGohey: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Did you yourself deliver any copies of Exhibit 9 x A 
for identification to any persons in the City of New York 
subsequent to its publication and during the year 19477 

Mr. McGohey: Objection. 
The Court: I will sustain the objection. 
(To witness) There was a distribution of that 

pamphlet, was there not Y 
The Witness: There was. 

Q. In fact, it was decided, was it not, by the National 
Committee at its meeting of De-cember 3rd to 5th that it 
should be distributed to members of the Communist Party 
(T-9593) and persons not members of t:P.e Communist 
Party, isn't that so~ 

Mr. McGohey: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 
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Q. Was there any discussion-

The Court: Oh, don't go into that any more. It 
is in evidence that it was printed and it was dis­
tributed. What difference does it make how many 
copies 'vent to this person and how many copies 
went to that person~ It gets interminable and all 
these details amount to nothing. 

:rvt:r. Sacher: If we don't have it we have objec-
tions. 

The Court: I think tho objections go to its being 
quite immaterial and I take that view myself. Every 
time there is one of these questions how many copies 
and-

1\1r. Sacher: This evidences the fact that the 
Communist Party is an open public political party. 

lvfr. McGohey: I object to the summation. That 
is what we have been leading up to. 

Mr. Sacher: How else do you determine whether 
a political party exists-

1\1r. 1\1cGohey: I object to it. I think we ought 
to go ahead, as your Honor directs. 

The Court : I think of many ways of showing 
whether it was open, not merely by showing that cer­
tain pamphlets (T-9·594) were distributed. How­
ever, the proof is that the pamphlet was distributed. 
I don't consider it material to know how many copies 
and just who got them and all that. 

Mr. Sacher: I offer Defendants' Exhibit 9 x A 
for identification in evidence. 

Mr. McGohey: It is obje-cted to, your Honor. 
The Court: Sustained. He has just testified it 

is the very self-same thing he testified to for some 30 
or 40 minutes ye.sterday. 

By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. Was there a time, Mr. Davis, during the year 1947 
when -rou were requested by the editors of a university 
magazine to write an article setting forth why you are a 
~Communist~ A. Yes. 

Q. What university magazine was that? A. Atlanta 
University. 
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The Court: Atlanta University~ 
The Witness: Atlanta University. 

Q. Did you write such an article~ A. I did. 
Q. Do you recall whether it was published~ A. It was. 
Q. When was it published, Mr. Davis? A. I think in 

the June 1947 issue of the magazine Phylon. 

( T -9595) 1tfr. Sacher: Would you be good 
enough to mark the magazine for identification and 
the article at pages 105 to the middle of 116 as 1 of 
that exhibit~ 

(:Marked Defendants' Exhibit 9 x B for identifi­
cation, and pages 105 to 116 marked Defendants' Ex­
hibit 9 x B-1 for identification.) 

The Court: All right, Mr. Borman. 

Q. This magazine of Atlanta University is sold on sub­
scription, is it not, throughout the country~ A. So far as I 
know, it is. 

Q. After this article in Phylon, which is 9 x B for iden­
tification, was published, was there a meeting of the Na­
tional Board of the Communist Party at which this article 
was discussed 1 A. Yes. 

Q. Do you recall when and where that meeting took 
place~ A. During the month of July or August. 

Q. Do you recall who was present~ A. Well, Mr. 
Stachel was pre~ent and Mr. Dennis, and I think Mr. 
Thompson, myself, ~Ir. Winston; and those are as many 
as I can recall. 

Q. Was there any discussion at that meeting concern­
ing the publication and circulation of this article as part 
of the teaching and advocacy of the Communist Party? 

Mr. ~fcGohey: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 

(T-9596) Q. Will you please state what discussion 
there was, if any, concerning the publication and circulation 
of this article 1 

Mr. McGohey: Objection. 
The Court : I will allow it. 
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A. Mr. Stachel proposed-rather, said, that the article was 
a very valuable one and could be used in a very broad sense 
to explain and to answer many of the questions that had 
been raised concerning our Party. He said he proposed 
that the National Board would approve the article and make 
arrangements for its publication and then the-this was the 
consensus of opinion of the other members and such ap­
proval was voted. 

Q. Was the article thereafter reprinted and dis­
tributed 1 A. It was. 

• • 
(1Iarked Defendants' Exhibit 9 x C for identi­

:fica tion.) 

Q. Mr. Davis, I show you Defendfints' Exhibit 9 x C 
for identification and ask you whether that is the article 
which is contained in the magazine Phylon, which was re­
printed and distributed after the discussion and action of 
the National Board which you have described f A. Yes. 

(T-9597) Mr. Sacher: If it please the Court, 
I now offer Exhibits 9· x B-1 for identification and 
9 x C for identification in evidence. 

Mr. McGohey: Both of them 1 
Mr. Sacher : Yes. We will only read it once, 

though. 
Mr. l\fcGohey: Object to both of them. 
The Court: Sustained. 
Mr. Sacher : I should like an opportunity to be 

heard on this, your Honor, because I think-
The Court: No, I don't want to hear any argu­

ment on that. It seems perfectly clear to me. 
Mr. Sacher: You mean-
The Court: I don't want to have happen again 

what 4appened when that paper that was prepared 
by Mr. Foster was offered. 

Mr. Sacher: But, your Honor, this was approved 
by the Communist Party. 

The Court : I know. I don't want any argument 
on it, Mr. Sacher. 

Mr. Sacher: Not only that but-
The Court: Please do what other lawyers do 

when the Court has ruled. 
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Mr. Sacher: Well, this man has to defend him­
self. This is ·why he was a Communist and I think 
that-

( T -9598) The Court: Please don't become 
offensive, Mr. Sacher. I understand he has a right 
to defend himself. I am giving him every opportu­
nity under the rules of law to defend himself, and 
this insinuation of yours, that I am doing something 
different, is very offensive to me, and I hope you 
won't repeat it. 

Mr. Sacher: But it is incomprehensible to me 
that a document written at the instance-

The Court: That may be because you read so 
much of this material here that you got queer no­
tions. I don't know, but however that may be, I 
rule it out. 

Mr. Sacher: Would it be pen11issible to excuse 
the jury and permit me to-

The Court: I don't desire any argument on this. 
I don't see any necessity. It seems perfectly clear 
to me. 

Mr. Sacher: Will your Honor give me an oppor­
tunity to go over this exhibit during the recess, to 
offer individual sections of it, if I may~ 

The Court: I will give you the opportunity to 
do that. It seems to me offhand that the objection 
goes right to the root of the whole matter. 

You have an impression that what a person may 
write and then have some resolution issued, that 
necessarily that makes it admissible, and I cannot 
see that, but you (T-9599) may go over it and 
you may offer such portions as you desire and I will 
give them consideration. 

Mr. Sacher: The only thought I have, your 
Honor, is that when a man has written under these 
auspices-

The Court: I don't want any argument, Mr. 
Sacher. If you will, please make a special effort to 
de~sist. 

Q. Now, Mr. Davis, the witness Hidalgo testified at page 
5851 and page 5852 of the transcript that there was a Party 
building congress held in June 1947 at the City Center in 
New York City. Do you recall that testimony? A. I do. 

LoneDissent.org



8478 

Benjan~in J. Davis-Defendant-Direct 

Q. He also testified that you \vere the first speaker at 
that meeting. Do you recall that~ A. Yes. 

Q. And at page 5832 of the transcript he testifies as fol­
lows, referring to you :-Hidalgo said, quoting now-" He,'' 
referring to you, ''opened up the tnoeting by stating what 
was the first question as to C01nrade :U-,oster on his latest 
trip to Russia. The question was, how big is the Party in 
America~ Comrades, that question is a very important 
one-to the best of my recollection.'' 

Do you recall that testimony~ A. I do. 
Q. Will you be good enough, Nir. Davis, to tell the Court 

and jury what you actually said on the occasion referred 
to by Hidalgo~ A. I did not say what Hidalgo said that I 
~said. ( T-9600) I spoke at this Party building conference. 
I made reference to the fact that there was a great need to 
build the Con1n1unist Party in our country and that that 
was the main purpose of the congress. I said that Foster 
had taken a trip and had returned frotn this trip, in which 
he informed me and other members of the Board that he 
had visited England, and France, and Switzerland, and 
Italy, and Czechoslovakia, and Poland, but that he had not 
been to the Soviet Union; and that he was struck by what 
he found in the people's democracies, the countries of Po­
land, Czechoslovakia, Bulgaria and other countries in Cen­
tral and Eastern Europe. 

And he said that these people's democracies were some­
thing new and that they were a type of democracy which 
had broken and curbed the power of the big monopolies and 
that the various nationalities and groups vtho lived in 
these people's democracies were-had a degree of freedom 
that they never had under capitalism and under the various 
reactionary monarchies that had existed in the Central 
European areas before World War II, and that these 
people's democracies there were bulwarks against war and 
fascism and that they had been democratically elected by 
the people, and that most of them were governed by parties 
which consisted of the Communist Party and Socialist par­
ties, a few Catholic parties (T-9601) and various other 
groups that had come together to establish these people's 
democracies. 
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He also pointed out that these-

The Court: This is what you were telling the 
meeting that Foster told you. 

The Witness: Correct. 

A. (Continuing) He also pointed out that these people's 
democracies were finding- their own way to Socialism and 
that they were very good examples of peaceful and dem­
ocratic achieven1ent of Socialism in their countries, and 
that nevertheless there were constantly forces being used, 
especially by American imperialism to overthrow these 
people's governn1ents and to deny these people the right 
to have their own self-determination of-establish their 
own destiny and the type of governrnent they wanted, and 
that these people's den10cracies were characterized by very, 
very large Comn1unist parties, and he said that these Com­
munists parties, their size, had been decisive in facilitating 
the most peaceful and democratic transition to Socialism 
which these governments and people's democracies were 
evolving, and he said that like the American workers have 
learned experience from other countries and like other 
countries had learned experiences from the American work­
ing class and the American people, that certainly here was 
something ( T-9602) that stood out, that the American 
workers needed to learn very much-a lot of information 
about these people's democracies so that lessons could be 
drawn that would be useful here in the American working 
dass finding a way, an A.merican way, to establish peo­
ple's democracies. 

Then I spoke on the Party and I said that it was very 
necessary for us to have a very large Party in America, 
that our Party had made signal contributions to democracy 
in America, to the fight of the American working clas,s, 
and in many other respects, and that certainly our Party 
had pioneered in the whole course of building and prepar­
ing the ground for industrial unionism in America, and that 
all was one of the many contributions made by our Party 
in its 30 years of history in this country. 

Then I said that another contribution was our Party's 
fight for Negro rights and I said that on this question-
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The Court: I guess we had better take our recess. 
I waited five minutes here, but evidently you have 

quite a little more to say on that, haven't you, Mr. 
Davis~ 

The Witnes.s: Yes, I do. 
The Court: Then I think we had better have our 

(T-9603) ten-minute recess now. 

(Short recess.) 

Mr. Sacher: Will your Honor excuse me just one 
moment, please 1 

The Court: Yes, certainly. 

B·y Mr. Sacher: 
Q. Will you be good enough, Mr. Davis, to proceed with 

the speech which you say you made at this meeting of the 
Party building conferenceol A. I said that our Party had 
made historic contributions to the labor movement and his­
toric contributions to the struggle for the freedom of the 
Negro people and that this contribution with respect to the 
Negro people was not just a contribution affecting the 
Negro people alone but was a contribution affecting the 
whole of American democracy. 

I said that the Scottsboro case had marked a milestone 
in the deveiopment of the struggles of the Negro people, 
the biggest one since the Civil War; and I said that the 
new thing which our Party had contributed in the struggle 
for Negro rights on Scottsboro was that it had brought to 
the attention of the whole American people and burned into 
their conscience the oppression of the Negro people and 
how this was the touchstone of American democracy and 
how this was the (T-9604) real item which showed the 
hypocrisy of our own democracy. 

And I said that our Party in that Scottsboro case had 
brought the labor movement, the white workers into this 
struggle for the rights of the Negro people and that this 
had marked a new turn in the whole struggle for Negro 
rights and that this was possible only because our Party 
based itself upon the principles of Marxism-Leninism .. 

And I said our Party had a splendid war record that 
it had a good war record with respect to Spain whe;e our 
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Party had helped to contribute to the Spanish people's 
fight against Franco, and how our Party had been st.ruggl­
ing in America for many, 1nany years against all manifesta­
tions of war and fascism; and that for these reasons we 
should have a deep appreciation of what the Communist 
Party in our country meant and that wo should defend 
our Party and that there were forces that were constantly 
threatening, the forces of n1onopoly capitalism and Ameri­
can imperialism, were constantly threatening through their 
agents and others to destroy our Party and to outlaw our 
Party, that we must defend our Party because it is the 
instrumentality through which we will one day achieve the 
freedom, the principles of the Declaration of Independ4 

ence, it is the instrument through which we are going to 
really have a free ( T -9605) America where there will be 
no exploitation of n1an by man and oppression of peoples 
because of their race or their creed or their:color or na­
tionality, and that this day in America which we were look­
ing forward to and which we were working forward to was 
going to come very soon in proportion to the size of our 
Party and how we were able to work among the basic 
workers of America, those workers who constitute the great 
majority of the American people, and convince them of the 
desirability of Socialism, of the correctness of Socialism, 
of the barbarousness of capitalism, of the great danger of 
war and fascism that was beginning to threaten our country, 
and I asked then1 with that hope to build our Party and 
to defend our Party, to build it among the workers, among 
the Negro people, among the Jewish people, among the 
Catholic people and all so we might have the day that the 
American people all hope for and dream for much earlier 
and that this was decisive in terms of the way, the speed 
and the size with which we built our Party and spread its 
science of liberation and freedom for the people of our 
country. 

(T-9606) Mr. Sacher: I should like, if I may, 
at this time to indicate to the Court and to Mr. 
McGohey what portions of 9 x C for identification I 
would like to offer if I may. Those portions ar,e, 
your Honor, from the bottom of page 7-
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The Court: Yes, they are all parts marked but 
you desire to state thmn for the record and you may 
do so. 

Mr. Sacher: Just for the record. 
The Court: I see the pencil marks here. 
ivlr. Sacher: That is right. 
The Court: And for the record you may state 

just what you are offering. 
Mr. Sacher: Beginning with the heading at the 

bottom of page 7 and going over to the end of the 
second full paragraph on page 10; then from the 
bottom, the very last line, on page 12, over to the 
end of the third line on page 14; then beginning at 
the top of page 15, the first full paragraph on page 
15, and going over to page-to the middle of the­
to the end of the first paragraph on page 19 . 

.Mr. McGohey: I object to each of these offers. 
1'be Uourt: Sustained. 

Q. Mr. Davis, did you in the month of September 1947 
attend a National Conference of the Communist Party 
(T-9607) concerned with the problems of the Negro peo­
ple f A. I did. 

Q. Where was that conference held, Mr. Davis¥ A. It 
was held in Harlem on 124 th Street between Lenox and 
Seventh Avenue. I don't know the exact number. 

Q. Do you have any present recollection as to who at­
tended that conference~ A. Yes, Mr. Winston, Mr. Potash, 
Mr. Williamson, Mr. Stachel, myself. Those are all that I 
can recall at the present time. 

Q. You mean, do you, that other people- A. There 
were others there. 

Q. -were present whom you don't recall? A. Yes. 
Q. Did you make a report to that conference, Mr. Davis 7 

A. I did. 
Q. Will you be good enough to state the substance of 

that report? 

Mr. McGohey: Objection. 
The Court: Mr. Sacher, isn't this going to be 

on the Negro question f 
. Mr. Sacher: But there are phases of that ques­

tion. 
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The Court : This is a new phase~ 
Mr. Sacher: Yes, I think it is. 
The Court : I really don't know what I am going 

to do about this repetition, it is just completely baf­
fling (T-9608) to me, because no suggestion seems 
to be acceptable to the defense about it, and you have 
just been oyer this thing so many times, but I will 
receive this and we will see if it is new. 

Go ahead, Mr. Davis. 

A. Among the things that I said, I discussed the question 
of the crisis and the Negro people, and I said that the­
one of the most unfailing indications of a coming economic 
crisis was the degree of unen1ploy1nent which was already 
beginning to hit the Negro workers, and that there were 
lay-offs and cut-backs which affected the whole working 
class in A1nerica, and that we were beginning to have a 
large period of unen1ployment in this country but that the 
major brunt of this unemployment and this period of eco­
nomic recession ·which \Ve are moving into was falling 
heaviest on the Negro workers, and that one of the most 
important tasks for the labor movement and progressive 
forces as a whole was to fight already-to struggle to smash 
the system of imposing upon the Negro workers the biggest 
single burden of coming economic recession, and that when 
Negro workers were themselv·es beginning to feel the heavy 
brunt of disemployment, then that was time for the whole 
working class, for the labor movement, for CIO for AFL 
to then realize it was time to start fighting, to see that the 
burdens of this economic (T-9609) crisis were not placed 
primarily upon the workers and upon those Americans who 
could least afford to bear this burden, and that the real 
danger that faced the country with the gro,ving acuteness 
of an economic crisis was the danger of fascism and that 
there was already a head start toward fascism in America 
by virtue of the fact that the system of white supremacy 
with respect to Negro workers had so long existed, so that 
the real big danger that faced the American working class 
and the American people was the danger of fascism and 
that this danger could quickly be intensified by the fact 
that we already had in America a Jim Crow system. 

Now those were the principal things I said on the crisis ; 
and then I pointed out as one of the main ways of over-
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coming the especial unemployment which 1\ egro workers 
had to go through with, was this fighting against the long 
system which existed in our country, symbolized in the 
words that the Negroes are the last to be hired and the first 
to be fired, and that this could be fought against and de­
feated only to the extent that the Negro and white workers 
fought together side by side, and that the white workers 
took the initiative against this idea that the Negro workers 
must always do the lowest form of work and (T-9610) 
receive the lowest pay. 

Those were the principal things I said. 
Q. \Vas there any special discussion by you at that 

time of the problem of seniority 1 A .. Not by n1e; there 
was by Mr. Williamson. 

Q. Will you be good enough to state what Mr. William­
son said on that subject~ A. Mr. Williamson said that one 
of the principal things that had existed in American indus­
trial life was the fact that Negro workers had been so long 
kept out of industries in which they had gotten into just 
·a little bit during the war, and that the Negro workers 
who had gotten into industry during the war were going 
to surely be the first to be fired because they would have 
such low seniority that most everywhere the white workers 
would have much greater seniority, because the same kind 
of Jim Crow bans against them in industry had not existed 
but with the Negro workers this was true, that they would 
only have the seniority that they received during the war 
and therefore it was necessary for the labor movement, as 
one of its means of strengthening seniority, of maintaining 
Negro and white workers in the factories that they had got­
ten into during the war-that one of the things that was 
necessary in that regard was to find-for unions to find a 
way in which (T-9611) an adjustment of seniority could 
be made, and that really it wasn't asking extra seniority 
for Negro workers, in effect, for the simple reason that the 
Negro workers had never had any seniority because they 
had been kept out of these factories and that therefore it 
was just recognizing a right that the employers had long 
denied to Negro workers, and therefore it was supposed 
that wherever possible progressives in unions-not only our 
own Communist Party members but progressives in unions 
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should find a way to have an adjustment in seniority so 
that all the Negro workers wouldn't be kicked out of in­
dustry, as the en1ployers were attempting to do, because 
that would mean certainly that the employer,s were going~ 
to not only keep the Negroes out of industry but also use 
that as a means of dividing Negro and white in the labor 
movement, keeping the white workers in the labor move­
ment and trying to kick the Negro workers out. 

Q. Did ~ir. \IV'inston say anything at that conference 
that you can recall? A. Yes. l\1r. \Vinston spoke and said 
that he considered that the fundamental task of the Com­
munist Party in the whole coming period, with reference to 
the question of tbe employment of Negro workers, was to 
guarantee that there should be the broadest understanding 
in the labor movement, in the trade unions of a correct way 
of fighting (T-9612) this attempt to isolate and to-to 
expel the Negro workers from American industry, and he 
said that our Party, if it fought along· those lines, would 
certainly be able to acc01nplish much and our Party would 
grow and the N egTo workers would be able to remain in 
industry to a degree that they weren't, and the white 
workers would be able to strengthen themselves by virtue 
of defeating this obvious n1easure of the employers to take 
advantage of the crisis to drive Negro workers out of 
industry. 

Q. Did l\!Ir. Potash participate in the discussion, toot 
A. He did but I don't recall just what he said. 

Mr. Sacher: :Mr. Borman, will you be good enough 
to mark pages 445 to 455 (handing to clerk). Thank 
you. 

(Marked Defendants' Exhibit 9 x D for identifi­
cation.) 

(T-9613) Q. Mr. Davis, did you on February 20, 1948, 
appear before a Congressional Committee to testify con­
cerning pending legislation at that time? A. I did. 

·Q. I show you Defendants' Exhibit 9 x D for identifi­
cation, and ask you to glance through those pages and to 
state whether there appears at the pages of the exhibit the 
questions that were put to you by the Committee and the 
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answers that you made to those questions. A. (After 
examining) Yes. 

Q. And the exhibit which I sho·w you, that is, 9 x D for 
identification, is part of a document that comes from the 
Government Printing Office, that is, the United States 
Government Printing Office, is that right~ 

Mr. lYicGohev: I think that appears on the face 
of the document. 

A. Yes, yes. 

Mr. Sacher: I offer 9 x D for identification in 
evidence, your Honor. 

Mr. McGohey: It is objected to, your Honor. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Did you in the month of June 1948 engage in any 
activity as a member of the Communist Party in the City 
of Washington~ A. I did. 

Mr. McGohey: Objeetion. 
( T -9614) The Court : I will allow a yes or no 

answer. 

A. I did. 
Q. Will you please state what that was 7 

Mr. McGohey: Objection. 

A. In the City-

The Court: Sustained. 
Mr. Sacher: What did your Honor say T 
Mr. McGohey: (To Mr. Sacher) The Court sus­

tained it. 

By the Court: 

Q. Does this have anything to do with force and vio­
lence, Mr. Davis, except in a remote and indirect sense T 
.A. Well, we had a delegation in Washington to get the anti­
lynching bill passed. 

Q. It was a delegation 1 A. Yes. 

The Court: Then I will sustain the objection. 
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By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. Did you say anything while you were in Washington 
in June 1948 concerning the subject of force and violenceT 

:Mr. :JHcGohey: Objection, your Honor. 
The Court : Sustained. 
(To ·witness) Is this some school that you were 

going to there or was it a delegation to effect some 
legis] a tion? 

l\[r. Sacher: Excuse me, your I-Ionor. Does your 
(T-9615) I-Ionor's question imply that statements 
n1ade in ~ehools alone haYe significance 7 That a 
statement teaching people outside a school doesn't 
haYe signifieancc? 

rrhe Court : No. The character of the proof 
that has been adduced against these defendants is 
something that I take it in the course of time you 
'vill seek to refute or call witnesses to testify about. 
I thought this had sornething to do with that but it 
hasn't. If he merely ·went to Washington with a 
delegation it seems to me 've have had a lot of that 
already and it is so remote to the issue I can't con­
ceive it having any probative force. 

l\fr. Sacher: But it is so close to the date of 
the indictment. That is what is significant about it. 
It is just slightly about a month before the indict­
ment and it seems that that should be of significance. 

The Court: Well, it seems otherwise to me. 
:Mr. Sacher: In view of your Honor's most recent 

statement concerning force and violence, may I offer 
that portion of l\fr. Davis's testimony before the 
Congressional Committee-

The Court: 1vfy rnost recent .statement~ I don't 
remember making any statement on the subject. 

:Mr. Sacher: Your question on force and violence 
addressed a moment ago to l\Ir. Davis. 

(T-9616) The Court: You call that a statementT 
11r. Sacher: I am sorry; it is a question. You 

have my apology, your Honor. 
1fay I re-offer that portion of Mr. Davis's testi­

mony before the Congressional Committee, which 
is marked off in the upper half of page 451 of Ex­
hibit 9 x D for identification~ 
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The Court: Yes. 
Mr. l\fcGohey: This is objected to, your Honor. 
It is the part that is marked here in the margin 

on the page, to the right hand side. 
The Court : Yes. 
(After examining) Sustained. 

(T-9617) Q. l\Ir. Davis, how long have you known Mr. 
Dennis 1 A. About 12 or 13 years. 

Q. And do you recall about how long you know Mr. 
Williamson~ A. About 10 years. 

Q. And Mr. Stachel ~ A. Oh, about 14 years. 
·Q. And how about Mr. Thompson, Robert G. Thomp­

son? A. About seven or eight years. 
Q. How long, about, have you known ~fr. Winston f 

A. About 15 years. 
Q. And 1Ir. Gates? A. About seven or eight years. 
Q. And how long have you known Mr. Potash 1 A. I 

don't recall any more than five years. Maybe six or seven 
years. 

Q. And Mr. Green 1 A. About 12 or 13 years. 
Q. And how long have you known 1\fr. Winter, if you 

recall? A. About 12 or 13 years. 
Q. And finally Mr. Hall, ho-w long have you known him? 

A . .About eight or nine years. 
Q. With some of these men you have sat in various 

National Board and National Committee meetings since 
the reconstitution of the Communist Party in 1945, have 
you not1 A. I have. 

Q. And with some of them you have sat since a later 
date, that is, when they were elected or appointed to the 
National Board, is that right, or the National Committee? 
( T -9618) .A. I have. 

Q. Have you, during any of the years that you have 
known any of these gentlemen, ever heard any of them 
teach or advocate the overthrow or destruction of the 
Government of the United States by force or violence 1 

Mr. McGohey: Objection. 
The Court: I will allow it. 

LoneDissent.org



8489 

Benjamin J. Davis-Defendant-Direct 

A. No, I have never heard any of them teach and advocate 
the overthrow of the Government of the United States by 
force and violence. 

Q. Have you, l\Ir. Davis, ever taught or advocated the 
overthrow or destruction of the Government of the United 
States by force and violence? A. I have not. 

Q. Did you ever enter into any agreement or conspiracy 
with any of your co-defendants or with anybody else to 
organize the Communist Party as a society, group or 
assembly of persons to teach and advocate the overthrow 
and destruction of the Government of the United States 
bv force and violence~ A. I have not. 

.. Q. Did you ever enter into any agreement or conspiracy 
with any or all of your co-defendants or anybody else to 
teach and advocate the duty and necessity of overthrowing 
and destroying the Government of the United States by 
force and violence? A. I have not. 

Q. Paragraph 2 of the indictment, Mr. Davis, reads 
(T-9619) as follo·ws: 

"It was part of said conspiracy that said defend­
ants ·w·ould convene, in the Southern District of New 
York, a meeting of the National Board of the Com­
munist Political Association on or about June 2, 
1945, to adopt a draft resolution for the purpose of 
bringing about the dissolution of the Communist 
Political Association, and for the purpose of organ­
izing as the Communist Party of the United States 
of America a society, group, and assembly of persons 
dedicated to the Marxist-Leninist principles of the 
overthrow and destruction of the Government of 
the United States by force and violence." 

Do you recall that 1 A. Yes. 
Q. Are there any l\Iarxist-Leninist principl,es that you 

are aware of which are principles of the overthrow and 
destruction of the Government of the United States by 
force and violence~ 

A. No. 

J\tlr. McGahey: Objection. 
The Court : I will allow it. 
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Q. Paragraph 6 of the indictment reads as follows: 

"It was further a part of said conspiracy that 
said defendants would bring about the organization 
(T-9620) of the Communist Party of the United 
States of America as a society, group, and assembly 
of persons to teach and advocate the overthrow and 
destruction of the Government of tho United States 
by force and violence, and would cause said Con­
vention to adopt a Constitution basing said Party 
upon the principles of J\1:arxism-Leninism.'' 

Do you recall that~ A. Yes. 
Q. Your Party is based and was based on the principles 

of Marxism-Leninism, was it not~ A. It was. 
Q. Was it your intention in participating with the de­

fendants to the end of reconstituting the Communist Party 
in 1945 to teach and advocate the overthrow and destruc­
tion of the Government of the United States by force and 
violence~ A. No. 

Q. Paragraph 10 of the indictment reads as follows: 

"It was further a part of said conspiracy that 
said defendants would conduct, and cause to be con-­
ducted, schools and classes for the study of the 
principles of Marxism-Leninism, in which would be 
taught and advocated the duty and necessity of over­
throwing and destroying the Government of the 
United States by force and violence." 

Do you recall that~ A. Yes. 
Q. I ask you whether you ever entered into any 

(T-9621) agreement with any of the defendants or any­
body else to conduct or cause to be conducted schools and 
purposes-schools and clas.se.s for the purpose of teaching 
and advocating the duty and necessity of overthrowing 
and destroying the Government of the United States by 
force and violence~ A. I did not. 

·Q. Have you and your co-defendants whom I have 
named to you earlier-have you and your co-defendants 
whom I have named earlier wholeheartedly .subscribed to 
the following contained in the preamble to the Constitution 
of the Communist Party, namely: 
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''The Communist Party upholds the achieve­
ments of American democracy and defends the 
United States Constitution and its Bill of Rights 
against its reactionary enemies who would destroy 
democracy and popular liberties''? 

l\1r. McGohey: Objection. 

A. Yes. 

The Court : Well, I am not disposed to take a 
technical view of this phase of the case. I am going 
to allow it. 

Q. What is your answer1 A. Yes. 
Q. Thank you. Now, Mr. Davis, did you, during the 

period covered by the indictment, receive any awards, 
distincti6ns or honors~ A. I did. 

(T-9622) Q. Will you please state what they were? 

Mr. McGohey: Objection. 
The Court: Where were these awards and 

honors1 
Read me that other question, Mr. Reporter. 

(Question read as follows: ''Now, Mr. Davis, 
did you, during the period covered by the indictment, 
receive any awards, distinctions or honors 7 ") 

The Court : I will sustain the objection. 
Is it in connection with some military service, 

Mr. Sacher? 
Mr. Sacher: No, it is not military service. It 

is for service to his people. 
Will you be good enough, Mr. Borman, to mark 

this (handing). 

(Marked Defendants' Exhibit 9 x E for identi­
fication.) 

Q. What is the Chicago Defender, Mr. Davis, please! 
A. It is one of the largest Negro weekly newspapers. 

Q. Is it the practice of the Chicago Defender to issue 
an annual honor roll of those who have rendered distin­
guished .service on behalf of democracy 1 

Mr. McGohey: Objection. 
The Court : Sustained. 
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Q. I show you Defendants' Exhibit 9 x E for identifi­
cation and ask you whether in the month of (T-9623) 
December 1945 you received this communication from the 
editor of the Chicago Defender (handing) 1 A. I did. 

Mr. Sacher: I offer it in evidence, your Honor. 
(Handing to Mr. l\fcGohey.) 

l\1r. McGohey: That is objected to. 
The Court : Sustained. 
Mr. Sacher: You may examine, 1\tir. McGohey. 
11r. l\fcGohey: Mr. Borman, do you have there 

the record in the case of Angelo Herndon against the 
State of Georgia, which was transmitted to the clerk 
of this court by the clerk of the Supreme Court of the 
United States? 

The Clerk: Yes, I have. I have it in a file out-
side. 

Mr. McGohey: Beg pardon? 
The Clerk: I have it in a :file inside (indicating). 
Mr. McGohey: May I have it, please1 

(Clerk leaves the courtroom and returns with a 
file and hands to 11r. McGohey.) 

Cross examination by Mr. McGohey: 

Q. Mr. Davis, I hand you this record entitled '' Tran­
script of record in the Supreme Court of the United States, 
October Term 19·34, No. 665, '' entitled ''Angelo Herndon, 
Appellant, against The State of Georgia." 

You prepared that record, did you not, Mr. Davis (hand­
ing)? A. You mean for the Supreme Court of the United 
(T-9624) States? 

Q. Yes. A. No, I didn't prepare the direct record for 
the Supreme Court of the United States because I wasn't 
a member of the Bar of the Supreme Court. 

Q. You prepared that record for the Court in Georgia, 
for the State Court in Georgia 1 

Mr. Sacher: Just a moment. I object .to the 
ques~ion because the previous question indicates this 
is the record for the Supreme Court, unles.s H ap­
pears that it is also the record of the-

The Court: Well, .a man doesn't have to be a 
member of the Bar of the Supreme Court of the 
United States to prepare one of its records. 
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1fr. Sacher: No, that isn't the point I am making. 
The se-cond question that Mr. McGohey has put was 
whether 1fr. Davis prepared that record for the 
Supreme Court in Georgia, and if that is the record 
in the Supreme Court I do not know whether it in­
dicates whether it is also the record in the Supreme 
Court-

Mr. J\IcGohey: Your Honor, I will save some 
time; I will withdraw that question and ask another 
question. 

The Court: Yes. 

Q. I ask you, Mr. Davis, whether that record now on 
the table before you was not prepared under your super­
vision~ A. You mean-

(T-9625) Q. Will you look at it please' A. (After 
examining.) I prepared a part of this record, that part 
of it dealing with the trial proceedings up to the Supreme 
Court of the State of Georgia. 

Q. Now it appears on page-it appears in there that you 
designated as the contents of that record the proceedings­
all of the proceeding.s with respect to the trial of Angelo 
Herndon in the State of Georgia, isn't that correct? A. 
Yes. 

Q. Now I ask you to look through that portion of the 
trial record which you prepared and show me where, any 
place the judge that tried Angelo Herndon called you any 
name. A. Well, I wouldn't have to look in there to :find 
that. All I am-

Q. I ask you, JYir. Davis, to show me in that record 
where the judge called you any name. , 

Mr. Sacher: Just a moment. I object to that 
question on the ground that no foundation has been 
laid that the record contains all that transpired at 
the trial. This is Georgia, your Honor, where this: 
case was tried. 

The Court: I see no reason to doubt that the 
transcript of the record of the Georgia proceeding is 
as accurate as elsewhere. 

The Witness: This record was prepared in the 
most vicious lynch fashion that I have even .seen in 
my (T-8626} whole life and that is one of the main 
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reasons why I joined the Communist Party, because 
the stenographer left those things out, because all of 
those things that the court called me and my client 
the court reporter absolutely refused to put in the 
record and I made one hundred objections because 
the court reporter wouldn't put it in the record and 
the judge called me ''nigger' '-he called me every­
thing he could think of, including "nigger", in­
cluding my own client. I know ·what I heard. I 
wouldn't believe the record of a court of Georgia, 
especially that judge that tried the Herndon case if 
he swore on a stack of bibles as high as Stone 
1\Jfountain in Georgia. 

Q. But you prepared that record~ A. Yes, I prepared 
it but I had to prepare it ·within the framework of what 
a Negro la\vyer fighting for his people could get out of a 
court of Georgia. 

The Court: Let me take a look at that record. 
Mr. McGahey: I beg your pardon 1 
The Court: I want to see that. 
Mr. McGohey, will you assist me in finding the 

certificate 1 The certificate made by the witness? 
Mr. J\fcGohey: Is it the certificate of the Supreme 

Court1 
The Court: No, the certificate of designation 

made by the witness. 
(T-9627) (Mr. McGohey hands book to Court.) 
The Court: Very well, you may proceed. 

Q. Now, Mr. Davis, my question was and it is now 
repeated: where in that record is there any place where 
the judge called you a name T A. I told you that it is not 
in there-probably isn't in there, and I recall that it 
wasn't in there, and the reason it wasn't in there is be­
cause there was a conspiracy between the judge and the 
clerk of the court, or rather the court reporter. That is 
why it is not in there, and it wasn't just a question of his 
calling me "nigger''-

LoneDissent.org



8495 

Colloq,ny of Court and Counsel 

( T -9628) The Court : You even claimed or one 
of your associates claimed that there was something 
that didn't look right in this record. 

The vVitness: I kno-w what was done in Georgia. 
I wish you would quit attacking n1y fellow defend­
ants here. 

:Mr. Sacher: I object to your Honor's inter­
polation as highly improper. Mr. Davis's observa­
tions are limited to the Court in Georgia. 

The Court: There is nothing in Mr. McGohey's 
question which justifies the witness's stating what 
he did about some conspiracy. The question merely 
was to sho·w the place in the record where that 
appears. 

Mr. Sacher: Mr. Davis explains why it doesn't 
appear. 

The Court: He wasn't asked for any explana­
tion. 

Mr. Sacher: The explanation is the only sig­
nificant thing about it because, unless that record 
was properly certified, then it is meaningless to 
ask the witness if what he says took place appears 
there, and anybody who knows anything about 
Southern justice to a Negro knows that it 'vouldn 't 
be there. 

The Court : I don't think you are justified in 
saying that. vVe are not trying the Judge who tried 
the Herndon case. vV e are not trying here the ques­
tion of what you call Southern justice and this 
and that. We have (T-9629) enough collateral 
issues that have been brought in. 

Mr. Sacher: But Mr. McGohey brought it into­
this record. The witness didn't bring it in; Mr. 
}.!IcGohey did. 

The Court : I think not. I think it was th,e 
witness who brought in this about the conspiracy 
between the Judge and the- reporter. 

1vir. Sacher: Mr. Davis has publicly made these 
charges against Judge Wyatt. 

The Court: Mr. Green made the same charge 
against the record here I don't know how many 
days ago. 
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Mr. Sacher: No; Mr. Davis-
The Court : Just a second. You doubtless desire 

to continue but I was about to say something. 
I was about to say that it was only a fe-w weeks 

ago or perhaps a few days ago-it is hard to re­
member the exact tin1e-that ~fr. Green 1nade the 
statement that this record here had been monkeyed 
with, and I remen1ber a number of references of 
the san1e sort of thing. ':rhat is easily done. Such 
charges are easily made. 

Mr. Sacher: I most respectfully submit that 
what your Honor is doing is reflecting on the credi­
bility of lVIr. Davis as to the truth of the statements 
he has Ina de about this Judge, and in view of the 
in1plication in your Honor's staternent I ask your 
Honor to instruct the jury (T-9630) to disregard 
it and to say that the credibility of this witness as 
well as all other witnesses is for the jury and for 
the jury alone to pass on. 

The Court: That is true, the credibility of this 
·witness and all other witnesses is for the jury alone 
to pass on but I a1n not going to sit here and have 
this witness in answer to perfectly simple ques­
tions go into a lot of things that he drags in by 
th,e heels. 

Mr. Sacher: Be that as it may, I ask your Honor 
to instruct the jury-

The Court: I will give them no further instruc­
tions than what I have given. 

Mr. Sacher: If it is the purpose of your Honor's 
remark to reflect on the credibility of Mr. Davis-

The Court : I don't see how my remark can 
reflect on_ the credibility of the witness but I hope 
I can stop him from adding these things to his an­
swers. 

Mr. Sacher: May I inform Mr. Davis that to 
the extent that a question from Mr. McGohey re­
quires f"q.rther elucidation that can be done in re­
direct examination~ 

The Court: He is a lawyer. 
Mr. Sacher: That he be afforded an opportunity 

to make any explanation on redirect examination. 
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The Court: He doesn't have to be told that. 
(T-9631) He knows what redirect examination is. 

By Mr. McGahey: 

Q. Now 1\:fr. Davis, it is a fact, is it not, that nowhere 
in that record which you prepared does it appear that the 
Judge called you any nmne ~ That is a fact, is it not 1 A. 
Well, I haven't exa1nined it thoroughly. 

Q. "\Vell, I suggest, :Mr. Davis, that you do. A. O.K. It 
doesn't make any difference in n1y answer. I know what 
I heard. I can't help what is in this record. 

Q. It is a question of -what you put in the record. 

The Court: That is the kind of thing, Mr. Davis, 
that there is no occasion for you to do at all. I 
think you were ahont to state that as far as your 
recollection ·was concerned there was nothing in 
there, in this actual paper you have before you, 
--which contained the statement that the Judge called 
you any name, and if that is your recollection it 
seems it may save the tilne of your going through 
the whole paper, but if you would rather do that you 
may. 

(T-9632) (A pause.) 

A. Well, I'll say that to the best of my recollection that this 
isn't in the record,-

Q. -very well. A. (Continuing) That the Judge called 
me "nigger", but he did call me "nigger" and he called my 
people '' niggers. '' 

Q. But you didn't put that in that record when you 
prepared it, did you, :Mr. Davis 1 A. I couldn't-

:Mr. Sacher: Just a n1on1ent. I object to the 
question on the ground that it assumes that Mr. 
Davis could put it in the record if he wanted it there. 

Mr. McGahey: And I object, your Honor, to 
this-

The Court: You know, Mr. Sacher, you are 
certainly a problem. Now, you have no right to 
make any such statement. You must know as a 
lawyer that it is absolutely not so. A la-\vyer has 
a right to propose as the record what he claims the 
record is. 

LoneDissent.org



8498 

Benjamin J. Davis-Defendant-Cros8 

Mr. Sacher: But this is not a proposal. This is 
the ultimate record, your Honor. 

The Court: \V ell, I know. I think if you will 
leave out those comn1ents, it 'vill be better. 

Mr. Sacher: Well, I stated the grounds of ob­
jection. 

(T-9633) The Court: This particular one 
seemed to me especially misleading. A lawyer has 
a right to propose tho record as he claims the record 
accurately should be. Evidently that was not done 
here. 

Mr. Sacher: But, if it please the Court, that 
statement I do not think is, at this juncture, war­
ranted, but whenever JHr. McGohey can give the 
impression-

The Court : You know, I told you some time ago 
I wasn't going to let you get away ·with a thing, and 
I am not. Just keep that in mind. 

Mr. Sacher: All I want to do is to protect the 
rights of my client. 

The Court: I understand. 
Mr. Sacher: Beyond that I want nothing more. 
The Court : You would protect him a lot better 

if you would l·eave out this misleading statement. 
~Mr. Sacher: I object to that. I have made no 

misleading state1nent. 
The Court : Well, you did make a misleading 

statement. 
Now I state the fact to be that a lawyer, when 

he proposes a record, may put in there what he 
thinks accurately and truly should go there. 

Now did you do that, Mr. Davis~ 
(T-9634) The Witness: I can't recall. 
The Court: All right. 
The Witness : That was my first trial case. I 

made many mistakes in it and it is quite possible 
that I did not take advantage of every legal recourse 
that I had, but it was my first trial case, as I recall, 
and I am pretty sure that I made many errors, but 
that what I was trying to do was basica'lly sound, 
and so I don't say at all that I got that into the 
record but I tried in the way I knew how to get it 
in. 
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Q. Yes. vVell, now, one of the things that occurred 
in that trial and which was the basis of your appeal-one 
of the bases of your appeal 'vas an offensive remark ad­
dressed to the defendant Herndon by a \vitness, wasn't 
it? A. That is right. 

Q. One of the 'vitnesses made an offensive reference 
to Herndon, didn't he? A. That is right, and the Judge 
adopted that reference himself. 

Q. No; let me suggest now, isn't it the fact that when 
the reference was made by the State's witness that you 
objected; that is correct, isn't it~ A. Yes, I objected. 

Q. And your objection was sustained, \vasn't it? A. 
It was not sustained. 

Q. Well, I suggest that you look there at page 102 of 
(T-9635) that record. A. This is not the final truth to 
me, you know. 

Q. Well, it is the record that you prepared, Mr. Davis, 
and I ask you to look at page 102 of that record, which 
you prepared-page 102 and page 103. 

Mr. Sacher: Excuse me, Mr. McGohey: Is the 
paper that Mr. Davis is being asked to state the 
contents of in evidence~ 

Mr. McGohey: I am asking him to look at a 
record before him which he prepared, to refresh his 
recollection as to whether or not what I have just 
ask-ed him about occurred. 

Mr. Sacher: I object to the question if it calls 
for the contents of any part of that document. 

The Court : Overruled. 
Mr. Sacher : Exception. 

A. Yes, I am looking at the record but it doesn't say that 
the Judge upheld my objection. 

Q. Did he issue a direction to the witness 7 A. He did, 
but he refused to rule on my objection. 

Q. He directed the witness to refrain from using the 
epithet, didn't he~ A. Yes, he tried to do it in such a 
way that I could not make it a basis of appeal. 

Q. But you did? A. Yes, I did anyway. 

The Court : Now! 

(T-9636) Q. Now, you say that this name-calling oc­
curred throughout the trial, the names addressed to you 
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and names addressed to your client, the defendant, Mr. 
Herndon; that is your testimony, is it not? A. That is 
right. 

Q. Will you look through that record and tell me if 
you can find anywhere in that record any other reference 
than the one to which I have just directed your attention 1 

Mr. Sacher: If it please the Court, I object to 
the question. 

A. No, I know it is a crooked record. I am not going to 
look. 

Mr. Sacher: Please, Mr. Davis. I object to the 
question on the ground that it calls for the contents 
of a written dooument. 

The Court : I will let the answer stand as it is 
made. 

Q. This point of the calling ]}<fr. I-Ierndon an offensive 
name was one of the points that was argued on the appeal, 
wasn't it7 A. Yes, I argued it in the Suprenw Court of the 
State of Georgia. , 

Q. Yes, and then it was argued also in the Supreme 
Court of the United States, wasn't it? A. I think so, ex­
cept I didn't argue it there. 

Q. Now, did you make, when you argued the case in the 
(T-9637) Supreme Court of Georgia, any claim that the 
record was a fraudulent record? A. I don't recall. You 
mean legally, did I make that clain1 in legal form, in that 
paper1 

Q. Yes, yes, when you argued before the Supreme Court 
of Georgia, I want to know if you said to the Supreme 
Court of Georgia, to the highest Appellate Court there, 
that you were being forced to argue your appeal on a falsi­
fied record? A. I'll tell you what I told the Supreme Court 
of Georgia. I told them-

Q. I would like an answer to my question, did you or 
did you not complain to the highest court that you were 
being forced to argue your appeal on a fake record? 

The Court: Crooked record. 
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Q. (Continuing) A crooked record. A. Well, I really 
don't know. All I know, I denounced that trial plenty be­
fore the Supreme Court of Georgia. 

The Court: Yes, but what he is asking you, Mr. 
Davis, is whether on that appeal you raised the same 
question, that these epithets had been used and th~y 
actually had been used, and they hadn't been put 1n 
the record, and that you raised that question when: 
you argued it? 

The Witness:' I think I did. I think that I raised 
the question of the word '' darky,'' that had been 
( T-9638) used, which is just as insulting. 

Q. No, that is not what I am asking you, Mr. Davis. 
Just let us get n1y question clear. What I want to find 
out from you, is, at the time you appeared before the 
highest court in the State of Georgia, when you were ap­
pealing in this case, did you state to that highest court of 
Georgia that you were being compelled to argue your ap~ · 
peal on a crooked record? A. I don't know. I might have 
said that to the court. I might have said that to the court. 
I said quite a bit. 

Q. Did you put it in a brief~ A. I cannot recall. It 
might have been in the brief, or it might not have been in 
the brief. And if it wasn't in the brief, it was just be­
cause I didn't know-I wasn't sufficiently-it was the first 
case I had ever carried to the Supreme Court of the State 
of Georgia and I wasn't sufficiently familiar with the prac­
tice of the Court. So it is quite possible that it wasn't in 
the brief but that doesn't mean that I did not denounce this 
case as a lynch case. 

Q. No, but you were admitted to the bar of Georgia, 
were you not~ A. That is right. 

Q. And you had been graduated from Harvard Law 
School? A. That is right. 

(T-9639) Q. Had you not? A.. That is right. 
Q. The question of being required to argue an appeal 

in a case of this kind on a crooked record was something 
pretty important, wasn't it, at that time, t~ you 7 A. Very 
important. · 
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Q. And is it your testimony no\v that you don't know 
whether you raised that point before the highest court of 
that State on your appeal~ A. It is 1ny answer that the 
possibility of one Negro lawyer overcoming the crooked 
lynch system in the Georgia courts is just so remote as not 
to even bear any basis for belief that I could myself defeat 
the crooked court reporter, the crooked Judge, the crooked 
prosecutor, the anti-Negro officials in that court. It is 
impossible-

·Q. Now, but-

The Court : I think this is a good time to adjourn 
for lunch. 

(Recess to 2.30 p.m.) 

(T-9640) AFTERNOON SESSION 

BENJAMIN J. DAvis, resumed the stand. 

The Court: Let the record .show that the jury 
is present and the defendants and the attorneys for 
the defendants ·with the exception of Mr. Isserman, 
Mr. Gladstein and l\1r. McCabe, in respect to whom 
the usual stipulation has been signed and filed, and 
the attorneys for the Government are present. 

l\1r. JYicGohey: 1Iay I proceed, your Honor f 
The Court: Yes, if you will. 

Cross exa1nination continued' by Mr. McGohey: 

Q. Mr. Davis, after you graduated from Harvard Law 
School, did you return to Atlanta and reside there until 
the time that you came to N e'v York~ A. No. I went back 
to Atlanta and then I went to Chicago. 

Q. When did you go to Chicago~ A. I think in the 
latter part of '28. 

Q. And how long did you re.side in Chicago~ A. I think 
until some time in 1929. 

Q. About a year did you remain in Chicago! A. Per­
haps; I don't recall exactly. 
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Q. And then was there a period when you lived in 
Baltimore 1 A. There was. 

Q. And when did you go to Baltimore¥ (T-9641) A. 
After I left Chicago. 

Q. That would he in late '29? A. Possibly. 
Q. And how long did you reside in Baltimore 7 A. I 

think until I returned to Atlanta in the latter part of '31. 
Q. The latter part of '31? A. Yes. 
Q. Now in January of 1932 you submitted a petition 

to the Superior Court in Fulton County, Georgia,. for ad­
mjssion to the bar, did you not~ A. I think so. 

Q. And in that petition didn't you state that for ten 
years immediately preceding that application that you had 
been residing in Atlanta? A. I don't recall what I said in 
the petition. 

The Court: How many years did you say? 
Mr. 1\IcGohey : Ten . 

• • • 
Q. I show you Government's Exhibit 187, certified by 

the Superior Court of Fulton County, and ask you to look 
at that and .see if that doesn't refresh your (T-9642) 
recollection that you stated in that application that you 
had resided for ten years in .Atlanta, Georgia, prior to the 
time that you :filed that application in 1932 (handing) 7 A. 
(After examining) I don't recall. 

Q. You don't recall what, ~1r. Davis? A. I just don't 
recall signing this. I probably did but I don't recall. 

Q. Well, you signed an application, didn't you 7 A. 
That'.s right. 

Q. In the Superior Court of Fulton Countyf A. That's 
right. 

Q. And you have looked at that, haven't you¥ A. Yes. 

Mr. McGohey: I offer this in evidence, your 
Honor (handing to Mr. Sacher). 

(T-9643) ~1r. Sacher: I object to this, your 
Honor. 

The Court: Overrt1led. 

(Government '.s Exhibit 187 for identification re­
ceived in evidence.) 
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Mr. Sacher: If you have a copy of that, Mr. 
~fcGohey, I would appreciate it. 

Mr. ~fcGohey: No, I do not, but I ·will have a 
copy. 

Mr. Sacher: Thank you. 

Q. You are Benjamin J. Davis, Jr., are you not, 1\fr. 
Davis? A. I am. 

Q. And in 1932 you lived at 230 Boulevard, NE, At­
lanta, Georgia, did you not 1 A. That is right. 

l\ir. McGohey: Now, your Honor, I desire to read 
the exhibit, the application. 

The Court: You may read such portion as you 
desire or the whole of it. 

Mr. l\fcGohey: It is very short. I will read it 
all. 

The Court: Very well. 
Mr. McGohey: ''Georg~~' Fulton County. 
"To the Ron. V erland Moore, Judge of the 

Superior Court of said County. 
"The petition of the undersigned male eitizen 

of Atlanta, Georgia, shows, :first, petitioner has 
(T-9644) resided at 230 Boulevard NE, Atlanta, 
Georgia, for ten years next preceding this applica­
tion and is of good moral character. 

''Second, petitioner has read law at Harvard Law 
School for three years. 

"Wherefore, petitioner prays to take the ex­
amination required by law to be licensed to practice 
law in this State.'' 

And then appears typed in the name B. J. Davis, 
Jr., petitioner. 

And then appears the voucher of two members of 
the bar of the State of Georgia who say they are 
acquainted with the applicant, and their names. 

Mr. Sacher: Excuse me, I would like to read 
what the two members of the bar say. 

Mr. McGohey: I would be glad to do it for you. 
Mr. Sacher: Just a moment. You had the op­

portunity. 
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The Court: I think :11r. Sacher is entitled to read 
it. 

Nir. Sacher : Thank you. 

''The undersigned, members of the bar of At­
lanta, State of Georgia, are acquainted with said 
applicant and know applicant to be of good moral 
character. We recommend that the application be 
granted. 

(T-9645) "Austin T. Walden 
"Thomas J. IIenry, Jr." 

By 11!Jr. J.l1cGohey: 

Q. ~1r. Davis, you ;joined the Communist Party in 1933, 
January of 1933, did you not 1 A. I did. 

Q. Beg your pardon~ A. I did. 
Q. And when you became a member you were given a 

membership book, were you not? A. I think so. 
Q. And that membership book contained excerpts from 

the statutes of the Communist Party, didn't it~ A. I can't 
recall now. It has been a long time. 

Q. Well, now I ask you if the book did not contain an 
extract from the statutes of the Party to this effoot on 
membership: A member-

lVIr. Sacher: Excuse me, Mr. McGohey. I ob­
ject to a reading from any documen,t that is not jn 
evidence, your Honor. 

The Court: I will sustain the objection at this 
time. 

Mr. nicGohey: Will you mark this, please. 

( l\Iarked Government's Exhibit 188 for identifica­
tion.) 

The Court : All right, Mr. Borman. 

Q. Now I show you the lefthand page of this Govern­
ment's Exhibit 188 for identification, and ask you if that 
doesn't ( T -9646) refresh your recollection that you got 
a book similar to that and containing the excerpts of 
statutes similar to that1 A. (After examining) It does 
not. 

LoneDissent.org



8506 

Benjamin J. Davis-Defendant-eros.:; 

Q. At the time you joined the Communist Party was 
it not a rule of the Party that discussion on basic Party 
questions or general party lines could be carried on by 
the members only until the Central Committee had decided 
them, and that after a decision had been adopted by the 
Congress of the Comintern, the Party convention, or by 
the leading party committee, it had to be carried out un­
conditionally even if some of tho members or some of the 
local organizations were not in agreement with that deci­
sion? A. Well, I can't even recall all that question, I would 
like to have it re-read. Pretty long question. 

Tho Court: You may. The reporter will read it. 

(Question read.) 

A. I don't recall any such rule. 
Q. Isn't there a similar rule at the present time, Mr. 

Davis~ A. In the Communist Partyf 
Q. Yes. A. Of todayf 
Q. Yes. A. No. 

Mr. McGohey: May I have Exhibit 26, please? 

·Q. I show you Government's Exhibit 26 in evidence, 
Mr. Davis, which is the constitution of the Communist 
(T-9647) Party, adopted at the convention in July 1945, 
and I direct your attention to article IX, section I, "Disci­
plinary Procedure.'' Begins on page 17-page 19 and goes 
over to page 20. A. You mean just section 1 or the rest of 
it1 

Q. No, section 1. A. Well, section 1 has absolutely 
nothing in common with that long complicated question 
which you put to me. 

Q. I read you from Section 1 : 

''Conduct or action detrimental to the worR:ing 
·class and the nation, as well as to the interests of 
the Party,'' and then particularly the following: 
''violation of decisions of its leading committees or 
with this constitution''-

Mr. Sacher: -"or of this constitution." 
Mr. McGohey: -"or of this constitution." 
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Q. (Continuing) And then, ''or other conduct unbe­
coming a member of the Party, may be punished by censure, 
removal from posts of leadership, or by expulsion from 
membership" A. Well, just having tbat-

Q. (Continuing) Does that not mean that a member of 
the Party -vvho persists in disagreeing with a decision of 
the National Convention or the National Board or the 
National Committee is not subject to expulsion~ (T-9648) 
A. Well, you put two questions to me, Mr. McGohey. One 
is the question on whether or not this is the same as that 
long, complicated thing you read, and now you are asking 
another question concerning this. 

Q. I am asking yon now, :Mr. Davis, if that provision 
·which I have just read from the constitution doesn't mean 
that a member will be expelled if he persists in disagreeing 
with a decision of the National Convention, the National 
Committee or the National Board of the Communist Party? 

Mr. Sacher: I object to that question on the 
ground that it includes matters not contained in 
article IX, section 1, of Exhibit 26, your Honor. 

The Court: It seems to me, except for the "will 
be expelled,"-! .suppose it is "may be expelled" 
instead, but it seems to me that that is the plain 
reading of it. What is the other section that you say 
nullifies or modifies it~ 

Mr. Sacher: It is not a question of nullifying or 
modifying. This section speaks of violations, your 
Honor, it speaks of ''conduct detrimental to the work­
ing class and the nation, as well as to the interests 
of the Party." That is one group. 

The Court: That is right. 
Mr. Sacher: Then "violation of decisions of its 

leading committees.'' Not disagreement with deci­
sions ( T -9649) of leading committees, but viola­
tions of decisions of leading committees. And then, 
''conduct unbecoming a member of the Party.'' 

The Court: Wait a minute. 
Mr. Sacher: That is a provision-
The Court: How would they violate decisions 

of leading committees other than by acting contrary 
to them persistently? 
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:1\Ir. Sacher: But Mr. !\IcGohey is asking about 
disagreenl(~nt and not about that conduct. That is 
what his question contains, not conduct violation but 
disagreement, a mental operation. 

The Court: Perhaps you can reframe the ques­
tion, Mr. McGohey. 

Q. Isn't it a fact that this provision of the constitution 
means that a.nyone, any member who refuses to obey a 
decision of the leading committees of the Party: the Con­
vention, the National Board or the National Committee, 
is subject to expulsion~ A. J\Iy understanding of this sec­
tion is that it means just what it says, the ''Conduct or 
action detrimental to the \Vorking class and the natiQn, as 
well as to the interests of the Party.'' 

Q. Now, isn't it a fact, Mr. Davis- A. That's what 
the section says and that is what the-

(T-9650) The Court: Yes, but that isn't the 
part that he is asking you about. As Mr. Sacher 
pointed out, that first part is separate and distinct 
from the second part which reads: "violation of 
decisions of its leading committees or of this Con­
.stitution.'' 

Now Mr. McGohey's question is as to whether 
or not it is your understanding of that that if a 
person-

Better have the phraseology of the question given 
again. 

Read it, 1\1r. Reporter. 

(Question read as follows:) 

"Isn't it a fact that this provision of the con­
stitution means that anyone, any member who re­
fuses to obey a decision of the leading committees of 
the Party: the Convention, the National Board or 
the National Committee, is subject to expulsion? 

A. Then my answer to that question would be that this 
section .says "may be punished by censure, removal from 
posts of leadership, or by expulsion from membership." 
It doesn't say "must be.'' It says "may be." 

LoneDissent.org



8509 

Benjamin J. Davis-Defendant-Cross 

Q. No. :.My question is, is not a person who refuses 
to obey the decisions of the National Convention, the 
National Committee or the National Board subject to ex­
pulsion for such disobedience~ A. According to our con ... 
stitution, whieh was democratically (T-9651) accepted 
and voted upon by our members, that is true. 

Q. And it was unanimously accepted, wasn't itf A. 
Yes, through the delegates. 

Mr. Sacher: Just a moment. Is that an in­
videous implication, ''it was unanimously accepted"? 

The Court: You know you always seem to bring 
in some comments which might be raised on summa­
tion. 

Mr. Sacher: But it might be forgotten then and 
now it is fresh. 

The Court: That is what makes it bad. 
Mr. Sacher: Oh, I see-
The Court: You see, lawyers are not supposed 

to make these running comments as the trial goes 
on, and particularly when their client is under cross­
examination. 

Mr. Sacher: 11ay I respectfully suggest that the 
tone of Mr. MeGohey's voice was comment1 

Mr. McGohey: Now if the Court plea.se, I think 
it ill becomes Mr. Sacher who has such consummate 
skill in the use of his voice to comment upon my skill, 
and I certainly make no claim, and I think I have not 
demonstrated any skill in the use of my voice. I 
ought to be complimented, I suppose. 

The Court : Well, I think we had better leave the 
subject of the voice intonations. The question is, 
(T-9652) was that passed unanimously and the an­
swer is yes, that it was. 

The Witness: I wish to change that because I 
am not-I -don't recall just what the vote was on this 
particular constitution, whether it was a majority or 
unanimously or just what it was. I would have to 
refresh my own recollection. 

Q. You were at the convention, though, that adopted 
it, were you not 1 A. Yes. 
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Q. l\ ow do you recall now \vhether there was any 
dissent from that provision as it was voted on 1 A. I 
can't recall all tho votes taken on all the many questions 
that were voted in the July convention. 

Q. Then your answer is that you cannot recall any 
dissent on that question? A. ~fy ans\ver is that I cannot 
recall whether it was unanimous or not unanimous. That 
isn't in1portant anyway. 

Q. Now do you recall whether there was any dissent 
on any provision of that constitution at the time that it 
was adopted by that convention in July 1945~ A. I 
couldn't possibly, because it was voted on as a whole and 
also section by section, as I recall now. 

Q. Isn't it a fact that Earl Browder was expelled from 
the Communist Party pursuant to that provision of the 
Constitution~ 

(T-9653) lVIr. Sacher: I object to that question. 
The Court: You mean you have objected and I 

overrule the objection. 
~1r. Sacher: 1\fay I point out to the Court that 

we triou to provo that certain people were expelled 
for other offenses under this constitution, that your 
IIonor oxduded that testimony~ 

The Court: I have some recollection of there 
being some separate question that came up there 
about that, and I think I understand what you are 
trying to do, but we will let it pass. I will overrule 
the objection. 

A~ Earl Browder was expelled as an enemy of the working 
class, and that is included right here in section 1, "Conduct 
or action detrimental to the working class and the nation'' 
-that's \\Thy. 

Q. Wasn't it also because of the fact that he refused 
to abide by the decision of the National Committee in the 
convention-by the National Convention of 1945 ~ A. His 
refusal ''Tas itself detrimental to the working claHs and the 
nation. 

Q. Now 1\ir. Davis, you told us on your direct examina­
tion that you had been arrested and convicted in New York 
City shortly after you came here, did you not~ A. I think 
I said about 1935, as I recall. 
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Q. Well, now, you were discharged, as a matter of fact, 
(T-9654) in that case, ·were you not~ 

The Court : That is right, in 1935. 

A. I can't recall. I thought I was fined and given a sus­
pended sentence but I wouldn't recall the exact terms. 

·Q. Now Mr. Davis, you are a member of the bar, are 
you not~ A. I am. 

Q. You are a member of the bar of the State of Georgiaf 
A. Yes. 

Q. And you studied law at Harvard Law School? A. 
Yes. 

Q. Now don't you know whether or not you were con­
victed or not 1 A. Well, that's a que.stion of fact, not a 
question of law. I can't recall. I don't recall exactly just 
what the disposition of the case was. As I recalled in my 
direct, I thought I was fined and given a .suspended sentence 
for picketing. 

Q. Now you also told us that you were arrested and 
convicted in Atlanta in a street car, did you not1 A. That's 
right. 

Q. N ovv you have from time to time filled out forms 
of various kinds where you have been asked the question, 
in substantially this form: ''Have you ever been arrested Y'' 
have you not1 A. I may have. 

Q. How did you answer that que.stion 1 

(T-9655) l\1r. Sacher: I object to the question. 
The Court: I will allow it. 
Mr. Sacher: May we ask that Mr. McGohey fix 

a specific place and time? 
The Court: It looks as though he was going to 

get around to it. I think this is preliminary. 
The Witnes.s: Read the question. 

(Question read a.s follows.) 

''Now you have from time to time filled out forms 
of various kinds where you have been a~ked the ques­
tion in substantially this form: ''Have you ever been 
arrested? '' have you not 1 
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Q. I .say, how have you answered that question "Have 
you been arrested,'' when you were required to answer that 
question on any form that you filled out~ 

Mr. Sacher: I object to the question unless the 
time is fixed, your Honor. 

The Court: Overruled. 

A. Well, I don't recall how I answered it. 
(T-9656) Q. Well, you have a license to drive a car in 

New York, haven't you~ A. Yes. 
Q. And in your application for a license did you tell 

the Motor Vehicle Bureau that you had never been con­
victed of any offense in any court 1 

Mr. Sacher: I object to the question unless Mr. 
McGohey accurately states the form of question. 

A. Really, I don't know. I don't know what I said. 

The Court: I will allow the question. 
Mr. Sacher: I have a license, too, but I don't 

recall how I answered it. 
Mr. McGohey: Did your Honor make a ruling? 
The Court : I will allow the question. 
Mr. McGohey: I think the witness said he didn't 

recall. 
The Court: Yes. 
The Witness: That is right. 
Mr. McGohey: May I have this marked. 

(Marked Government '.s Exhibit 189 for identifica-
tion.) 

The Court: Very well, Mr. Borman. 

Q. Mr. Davis, I show you Government's Exhibit 189 for 
identification, which is a certified set of papers, and I ask 
you if that isn't a photostatic copy of your application and 
a photostatic copy of your signature (T-9657) that ap­
pear.s there~ A. I don't know whether that is my .signature 
or not. 

Q. In September nine hundred and-in November 1944 
you were living at 1 West 126th Street, were you notf A. 
Yes. 
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Q. And your business address was 200 West 135th 
Street, was it not~ A. Yes. 

Q. Yon did apply in that year for a license to operate 
an automobile, didn't you? A. I think I did. 

Q. And at that time you were employed, were you not T 
A. Yes. 

Q. And you were employed by the City of New York, 
were you not? A. Yes. 

Q. And your birthday was-

lVfr. Sacher: Just one moment. I wish to object 
to both the question and answer. A Councilman is 
not an employee of the City of New York; he is an 
official of the City of New York. 

The Court: \V ell, that is a good point. He 
probably put it down the other way. 

Q. And you were about 220 pounds? A. Ye·s, I think 
so. 

Q. \Vhat is that f 

The Court: ~1ore or less. 

·Q. And your height was about 6 feet 2f A. That is 
about right. 

(T-9658) Q. Brown eyes? A. I think so. 
Q. And black hair f A. Yes. 
Q. And your name was Benjamin J. Davis, Jr., correct! 

A. In 1944, in November, it was. 
Q. And that "J" ·stood for the name Jefferson, didn't 

it f A. That is right. 

The Court: Why don't you take another look at 
it and .see-

The Witness: It is hard to read. 
The Court: I know, but you just make another 

effort. 

Q. I show you this part that I have been reading from 
and then on the reverse side where the signature appears, 
and ask you to tell me if that is the application that you 
signed and filed at that time for a license to operate a 
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motor vehicle (handing)? A. I wouldn't swear that is 
my signa turo. 

The Court: No, but don't you remember signing 
an application and making those answers 1 

The Witness: I remember making an application 
and getting a license, but I wouldn't swear that that 
is my signature because I don't know. 

The Court: The question is whether you didn't 
sign the original of that paper, the photostat of 
which is shown you. 

(T-9659) Mr. Sacher: The only way he can an­
swer is if he recognizes his signature. 

The Court: You tell him what to answer and 
he will know ho\v. 

Mr. Sacher: I am not telling him anything. 
The Court: I know all about that. 
Now, Mr. Davis, you look at that paper and tell 

us if you signed the original of that. 
The Witness: Again it looks similar to my 

signature, but I wouldn't swear that I signed it. I 
can't recall signing it and if I had said I recall sign­
ing that particular document, well, I wouldn't be tell­
ing the truth because I just don't recall signing it. 

The Court: Nobody is saying that particular 
document because it is a photostat. The question is 
whether you didn't sign the original of which that 
is a photostat. 

The Witness: I don't know. I readily acknowl­
edge that I made an application, that I signed an 
application. I must have, but I don't recall signing, 
when I did it or anything. 

The Court: Nobody is asking about when you 
did it. 

Mr. McGohey: I offer the exhibit in evidence. 
Mr. Sacher: May I look at it 1 
The Court: Now I will save you a little time. 

(T-9660) If you object on the. ground that there is 
no proper foundation I am going to sustain the ob­
jection. Do you so object 1 

Mr. Sacher: I do, your Honor. 
The Court: I sustain the objection. 
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Q. 1fr. Davis, I show you this stipulation in this case 
dated July 12, 1949, and ask you if the second signature 
on the lefthand column there is your .signature? A. Ye.s. 
That is today. Yes. 

Q. Yes~ A. Yes, that is my sjgna.ture. 

The Court: That is the one you signed this morn­
ing7 

The Witness: Yes, I remember that. 
1\fr. J\fcGohey: If the Court please, I offer Gov­

ernment's Exhibit 189 and today's stipulation in 
evidence. 

The Court: Well, I think the stipulation may be 
regarded as in evidence without giving it an exhibit 
number, unless you particularly desire that that be 
done. 

Mr. McGohey: No. 
The Court: But we have been signing these 

every day and this has toda.y'·s date on it, .so I will 
regard it as being before me. 

lVIr. 1'lcGohey: N O\V I offer Exhibit 189 for 
identification-! re-offer 189 for identification. 

(T-9661) Mr. Sacher: May I confer for a 
moment with ~lr. McGohey? 

The Court: Certainly. Certainly you may. 
Maybe some good will come of it. 

(Mr. Sacher confers with Mr. McGohey.) 

Mr. Sacher: Your Honor, I object to it. 
The Court: All right, let me look at it. 
(After examining.) I have an idea, Mr. Me­

Go hey, that with photostats like this without the 
production of the original that it is doubtful whether 
there is a proper foundation. I don't remember the 
authorities offhand, but I have some vague recollec­
tion. 

As I am in doubt I think I will sustain the ob­
jection. 

Mr. McGohey: If the Court please, if your Honor 
will hear me-

The Court : Yes, I will hear you. 
Mr. M·cGohey: I can't cite the section but my 

recollection is quite clear that there was legislation 
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in the State of N e·w York to provide for just this, the 
certification of applications to the 1\Iotor Vehicle 
Bureau. 

The Court: If that is so I will give you a chance 
to find out. We will take our ten-minute recess now 
and perhaps you ean call my attention to that. 

(Short recess.) 

(T-9662) ~1r. 1\IcGohey: With your Honor's 
permission I desire for the moment to pass to another 
subject. 

The Court: Very well, you may do so. 

By llfr. McGahey: 
Q. Mr. Green, you told us you came to re·side-

:Mr. Sacher: Pardon Ine, this is JHr. Davis, Mr. 
McGohey. 

l\1r. McGohey: Didn't I call him "Mr. Davis"1 
Mr. Sacher : You ealled him '' Green.'' 
Mr. McGohey: Oh, I apologize, Mr. Davis. 
The Court: That is another one of Mr. Sacher's 

good points. 
Mr. McGohey: Yes. 
The Witness: It is a privilege to be called Mr. 

Green also. 
The Court: Now, we have all passed that around. 

I think you can reframe your question. 
Mr. 1\fcGohey: Yes. 

. Q. Now, Mr. Davis, you told us that you came to reside 
in New York in the latter part of 1934 or the early part of 
l935. When did you first vote in New York State? A. I 
think in '35. 

·Q. Do you know what the residential requirements in 
New York are in order to be eligible to vote? A. I think 
I do. 

·(T-9663) Q. Would you tell me what they aret A. I 
think they are a year. 

Q. Residence in the State for a year? A. Yes. 
Q. And residence in the County for, or in the City for 

a certain period? A. I think :so. 
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Q. And then there is also a provision that-what is 
that provision, what is the length of time that you are 
required to be in the City or in the County? A. I think six 
months. 

Q. And then there is a period of 30 days in the Election 
District, is there not 1 A. I think so. 

Q. You say you voted the first time in 1935? A. I think 
so. 

Q. Are you sure 1 A. I am not absolutely sure. 
Q. But you registered in order to vote in 1935, did you 

not? A. I think so. 
Q. Now, at the time you registered to vote in 1935, that 

would be some time in October, would it not1 A. I think 
it would be. 

Q. And had you been in the State of New York a year 
in October of 19357 A. Yes, yes, I think I had. 

Q. How long had you been in New York? A. I think I 
had been in New YoTk for more than a year in October 
1935. I think I had. That is my best recollection now. 

Q. Well, how long~ A. i can't recall the exact 
(T-9664) number of months or-that I was here-months 
and weeks and days. 

Q. You told us on your direct examination and here 
ag·ain now that you had come to New York for the first time 
in late 1934 or early 1935, that is correct, is it not Y A. 
Yes, but I have since checked my own opinion and recollec­
tion and I think it was somewhere around the middle of 
1935. It might have been a little later than June-

Q. Middle of '35T A. I mean '4. 
Q. '34? A. I beg your pardon, I think it was some-

where-
·Q. I see. A. -around June or July. 
Q. Of 1934 T A. I think it was. 
Q. Well now, do you desire to change your testimony 

now to make it that you arrived here in June or July of-
1934~ A. I think so. I would do that. 

Q. And you are sure now that is when you arrived here t 
A. As I recall, I think I did. 

·Q. Wasn't earlier than that? A. I don't think so, my 
best recollection. 
. (T-9665) Q. Now, Mr. Davis, I show you this Registry 
of Voters from the 22nd Election District, the 19th As-
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sembly District of the year 1935, and I call your attention 
to this line beginning with the number 165 (indicating), 
and then I direct your attention to a signature over on the 
righthand side .and I ask you if that is not your original 
signature (handing) 1 A. (Examining.) 

Q. I have asked you to look at the signature there and 
tell me if that is not your signature~ A. It looks very 
much like it. 

Q. Well, it is, isn't it~ A. It looks like it but I don't 
know; I wouldn't say. 

Q. That is an original signature~ A. Well, I say I still 
don't know. 

Q. Yes, but it is an original signature~ A. It has been 
14 years. 

Q. Yes, but I say the signature that appears there is 
an original signature; it is not a photostat or a copy of it? 
A. Well then, I don't know. 

Q. You mean you don't know whether it is a photostatT 
A. No; I mean I don't know whether it is an original or 
not. 

Q. Well, it isn't a photostat, is it, Mr. Davis? A. It 
doesn't look like it. 

The Court: That's an original all right. Let us 
not play around with that. 

( T-9666) Now do you recognize your signature 
or don't you~ 

The Witness: It looks very much like my signa­
ture, but I wouldn't know exactly whether it was. 
It looks very much like it, but I don't know. 

Mr. 1\tfcGohey: Now if the Court please, I offer 
in evidence pages 34 and 35 of this original docu­
ment and ask leave to substitute a photostat in lieu 
thereof (handing to Mr. Sacher). 

Mr. Sacher: I object to this, your Honor, and 
I would like to be heard, if I may. 

The Court: Well, let me look at it. 

(Mr. Sacher hands to the Court.) 

The Court: Yes, I will hear you, Mr. Sacher. 
Mr. Sacher: The point I wish to make, your 

Honor, is that the only thing which is provided for 
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in regard to election statements is that when a citi­
zen has misstated a fact concerning his eligibility or 
qualification to vote at the date of the election next 
ensuing his registration, tbat that constitutes an 
offense. Now inasmuch .as Mr. Davis moved into 
New York, according to his testimony, in June or 
July 1934, and therefore had more than a year of 
residence and would have had, I think, precisely 20 
months of residence at the time of the election in 
1935, and since that fact is so (T-9667) stated, I 
think that anything else in the record is utterly ir­
relevant, immaterial, has no bearing on credibility or 
anything else. 

The Court: Is- it all right for people to make 
false statements~ 

Mr. Sacher : Oh, I haven't .said anything about 
a false .statement yet, your Honor. 

The Court: No, I noticed you did. not. I was 
kind of curious. 

1ir. Sacher: I do not know that anything in there 
is false. 

The Court: Well-
Mr. Sacher: The point I am making is that 

taking everything there in conjunction with what Mr. 
Davis has said, that he has amply and conclusively 
established his eligibility under the requirements 
brought out by Mr. :rvtcGohey to vote in the election 
of 1935 and therefore that is the end of the matter. 

The Court: It is the end of the matter unless 
there be some false statement in here. Is there some­
thing inconsistent with the testimony of this witness, 
Mr. McGohey¥ 

Mr. McGohey: Why yes, your Honor. I direct 
your Honor to column 34. 

The Court : Column 34 ~ 
( T -9668) Mr. McGohey: 24, and also columns 

18 and 19. 
The Court: (After examining.) Yes, yes, yes. 
Mr. Sacher: I wish, however, to add another 

ground, if I may and that is that there is nothing­
no evidence to indicate that Mr. Davis read any of 
the things contained in any of the columns that ap-
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pear there, I have registered any number of times­
The Court: V\T ell, what you did is not very 

material, l\Ir. Sacher. 
:Mr. Sacher: That is quite true. I am just call­

ing your attention to the fact that nothing in that 
book is in anybody's-is in Mr. Davis's handwriting 
except perhaps-and I say ''perhaps" in view of the 
testimony-the name, but everything else is written 
by some body else. 

The Court: I \vill receive it. 

(:Marked Government's Exhibit 190 in evidence.) 

(T-9669) The Court: What is that election dis-
trict~ 122? 

l\Ir. McGohey: No, it is the 22nd Election Dis­
trict and the 19th Assembly District for the year 
1935. 

The Court: All right, 22nd. 

Q. :Mr. Davis, I hand you the original book which con­
tains the original of pages 34 and 35 ·which have been 
marked in evidence. 

Mr. Sacher: :Mr. 1:fcGohey, may I trouble you for 
a copy so I can follow it~ 

Mr. McGohey: I don't have another copy now, 
but I will have one made, Mr. Sacher. 

Mr. Sacher: Thank you. 

·Q. Now the address you gave there, Mr. Davis, was 
2121 Fifth A venue. Was that your correct address t .A. I 
think it was. 

Q. Now I direct your attention to column 18-:fi~st I 
direct your attention to column 17. That column says 
"Married, single or widowed," and the letter M appears 
in that column. Were you married at that time, Mr. 
D.avis1 

Mr. Sacher: I object to that question unles~ 
it appears that the witness made that entry himself 
or was aware of the entry made at the time. 

The Court: Overruled. 

A. (No answer.) 
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(T-9670) Q. 1\fr. Davis, will you look under column 30 
just above your name1 You will find there, do you not, 
these words: "The foregoing statements are true"¥ That 
.appears just above your name, does it 1 A. Yes. 

Q. Now going back to column 17 I ask you whether 
or not you were married at that time~ A. No, I wasn't. 

Q. Now the next column, column 18: ''Length of resi­
dence in the State in years-3 years." Were you on this 
date, October 15, 1935, three years in the State of New 
York~ A. No; only about 18 months, I think, or a little 
more. 

Q. In column 19: ''Length of residence in the County­
months' '-and there appears '' 3 years.'' Had you been 
in New York County at that time three years1 A. No. 

Q. Now in column 20: ''Length of residence in the Elec­
tion District in dayB<"-and there appears here ''20 
months.'' Had you on October 15, 1935, been in this Elec­
tion District for 20 months 1 A. I don't recall. 

Q. Well, you have testified that-this afternoon,-that 
you came here in July or possibly June of 1934, and you 
further testified that it was not earlier than June or July 
of 1934 that you began to reside in New York. (T-9671) 
That is correct, is it not? A. That is right. 

Q. Now I ask you, were you 20 months in this Election 
Districtol A. No. 

Q. On October 15, 19351 A. No, no, I guess I wasn't. 

The Court: You were not 1 
The Witness: No, I guess I was not. 

Q. Now I direct your attention to the answer which 
appears in column 24 : ''Year of last vote or registration,'' 
and there appears '' 1933,'' and then under columns 25, 26 
and 27, you were required to state when you last registered 
for voting and where you lived, and the .answer is given 
''New York State.'' Were you living in New York State in 
19331 A. No, I wasn't. 

Q. Were you living in New York City in 19331 A. No. 
Q. Were you living in 2162 Seventh Avenue in 1933! 

A. No. 
Q. Did you register to vote in New York in 1933? A. 

No, didn't register to vote anywhere then. 
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Q. All of these answers concerning which I have ques­
tioned you in this registration, Mr. Davis, were false, were 
they not~ 

Mr. Sacher: I object to the question. There is 
(T-9672) no evidence that Mr. Davis gave any of 
these answers. 

The Court : Overruled. 

A. Well, these answers don't correspond to the facts. 
Q. They are false, aren't they, Mr. Davis~ A. I say the 

answers don't correspond to the facts. 
Q. I say they are false answers, are they not, Mr. 

Davis~ A. I say the answers don't correspond to the facts 
and I don't recall giving them. 

Q. Now, you have testified, haven't you, that you never 
told Mr. Budenz, as he testified, about what occurred at a 
meeting of the National Committee held in January or 
February 1944~ A. I think I te.stified to that. 

Q. Were you present at that meeting in January of 
1944 or February 1944, that lV.Ir. Budenz testified about? 

Mr. Sacher: I object to Mr. McGohey's ques­
tion on the ground that the question put to Mr. 
Davis concerned itself with the meeting of February 
1944. 

Mr. McGohey: I will accept the amendment. 

Q. (Continuing) I ask you if you were at the meeting 
of February 1944~ A. I think I was. 

·Q. And now let me read what Mr. Budenz testified to, 
and I am reading at 1576, the question, 

'' Q. What did Mr. Davis tell you had taken place at 
the meeting~ A. He said that about 40 comrades had 
(T-9673) been called together hurriedly to discuss a letter 
written by William Z. Foster.'' 

Were there about 40 comrades at that meeting in Feb­
ruary 1944 ~ A. I cannot recall. 

Q. Had they been hurriedly as·sembled ~ A. I cannot 
recall. 

Q. Had they been assembled to consider a letter written 
by Mr. Foster which attacked Browder's recommendations 
to the National Committee in January~ A. That was a 
question discussed at that meeting. 
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Q. Then Mr. Budenz continued, 

''and that these people, gathering together, had, with 
the exception of two, as I recall, Foster and Darcey, 
voted do·wn Foster.'' 

Did that happen~ A. Yes, I think that is true. 
Q. Everybody except Foster and Darcey voted against 

Foster' A. I think so. 
Q. I show you page 655 of Government's Exhibit 17, 

entitled, ''A note by William Z. Foster,'' and ask you if 
Mr. Foster himself didn't say that that had occurred 1 A. 
Yes, there is no question about that. 

Q. Now, l\1r. Foster-Mr. Dennis-Mr. Budenz con­
tinued "that Foster had been given a good shellacking; 
(T-967 4) and that the only thing left for him was to ap­
peal to a higher authority." 

That statement-that happened, didn't itt A. No. 
Q. Wasn't Foster beaten in the Committee? A. No, 

that is not the que·stion you are asking me. You are asking 
me whether I told Budenz that and I say I did not. 

Q. No, no, I am not, Mr. D.avis. I am asking. you if it 
is not a fact that in the meaning of the committee, to use 
this language, "Foster was given a good shellacking"! A. 
You want me to agree to that language? 

Q. No, I want you to agree or disagree. I want you 
to tell me the truth .as to whether or not Foster was not 
beaten in the committee on his proposal. A. Foster's­
correct-proposals were defeated in that committee. 

Q. So Foster was defeated' A. The proposals that he 
made in the line of policy which he advanced were rejected. 

Q. And they were rejected to the extent that only him­
.self and one other man, named Darcey, voted in favor of 
them! 

Mr. .Sacher: I object to it as. having been 
(T-9675) answered' 

The Court : Sustained. 

Q. And it is a fact also that the meeting there was 
strongly in support of Browder in regard to the Teheran 
line in the Communist Political Association; that is a fact, 
isn't it? A. That is a fact but that is not the whole truth. 
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Q. Now, was Frederick Myers present 1 A. I don't 
know; I don't recall. 

Q. Do you know whether or not he tried to reconcile 
Browder and Foster? A. I know nothing whatsoever about 
that. 

Q. Do you know Frederick l\1yers 1 A. I know him. 
Q. You don't know whether he was at that meeting or 

not? A. I cannot recall. 
Q. You told us in your direct examination that in the 

course of your campaign in 1945 for re-election to the City 
Council you spoke about the Schneiderman decision- A. 
Yes. 

Q. in your campaign. And you told us that even the 
Supreme Court-you said, rather, in your campaign that 
even in 1943 the Supreme Court had handed down the 
Schneiderman decision, ''showing that our Party did not 
advocate force and violence''; you testified to that in your 
direct examination (T-9676) A. I think I did. 

Q. You are a graduate of Harvard Law School, are 
you not, Mr. Davis? A. Yes. 

Q. When you were making these speeches in your cam­
paign did you also tell your audience that the Supreme 
Court in the same Schneiderman decision had said, at page 
148 of the report, ''This Court has never passed upon the 
question of whether the Party does so advocate and it is 
unnecessary for us to do so now"? A. You are asking 
me-

Q. I ask you if in your speeches, when you were talking 
about the Schneiderman decision, you told your audience 
that the Supreme Court itself said in the same decision, 
''This Court has never passed upon the question whether 
the Party does so advocate and it is unnecessary for us 
to do so now"? A. W·ell, I considered that an obiter 
dictum and I didn't say that-

Q. The answer is you did not tell your listeners any­
thing about that part of the Schneiderman decision 1 A. 
I told them the decision, what the decision had decided, and, 
that is, that a tenable conclusion from studying the Marxist 
classics of ou·r Party, which were studied by the Supreme 
Court of the United States-that it was possible to draw 
the conclusion that the Communist (T-9677) Party did 
not advocate f'orce and violence. 
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Q. You say that is what the Supreme Court decided in 
the Schneiderman case~ A.. Yes. 

Q. Despite the language which I have just read to you 
where the Court said, ''The Court has never passed upon 
the question whether the Party does so advocate,'' and 
the Court then expressly says, ''and it is unnecessary for 
us to do so now," you say despite that language that the 
Supreme Court did decide that the Communist Party did 
not teach and advocate the overthrow of the Government of 
the United States by force and violence 1 A. Well, you 
want me to adopt your opinion-

Q. No. A. -your view of that case. 
Q. No. A.. I cannot do so. Even the Supreme Court 

of the United States disagrees on what it thinks is the law. 
Q. I am trying to find out, first, what you told your 

listeners in the campaign, and I have asked you if you had 
referred to the part of the Supreme Court decision which 
I just read to you~ A.. I gave them my view, which was a 
correct view and the view of our Party upon the decision. 

The Court: Did you mention that part of the 
opinion that l\fr. l\1cGohey has quoted to you now 
several times~ Either you did mention it or you did 
not mention (T-9678) it, or you don't remember. 
Now, which is it~ 

The Witness : I remember telling the people in 
my campaign what the conclusion-the decision of 
the Supreme Court was. I wouldn't make a legal 
argument in a political campaign on street corners. 

The Court: Now, I ask you again, Mr. Davis, 
in your speeches, did you mention the language­

The Witness: I am sure I did not mention that. 
The Court: That you did not mention it? · 
The Witness: No. It is a wrong view of the 

decision. 
The Court: You could have said that five minutes 

ago and .saved us a lot of time. 
The Witness·: It is a wrong view of the decision, 

in my opinion. 

Q. Now, did you in that campaign say to your audiences 
or any of them that the Supreme Court in the same opinio11: 
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also said .at page 153, and I quote, ""\Ve do not say that 
a reasonable man could not possibly have found as the 
district court did that the Communist Party in 1927 actively 
urged the overthrow of the Government by force and 
violence, but that is not the issue here.'' A. No, I didn't 
say anything about that. I gave them the decision. I was 
not reading- the opinion around on street corners. 

(T-9679) Mr. McGohey: If the Court please, I 
should like to call l\1r. Moakley of the Motor Vehicle 
Bureau. 

The Court: You may do so. 
Mr. McGohey: He had some original records. 
The Court: You may step down a moment, Mr. 

Davis. 
Mr. McGohey: Oh, I don't desire to put him on 

the stand. 
Mr. Davis may stay on the stand. I just wanted 

him for the original records. 
The Court: I thought you wanted leave to in­

troduce him to testify in order to identify some 
paper. If not, you may get whatever you asked for. 

Mr. McGohey: Mr. Davis, if you don't mind, I 
would like the officer to take the stand, please. 

(Witness excused ternporarily.) 

LYMAN MoAKLEY, called as a witness on behalf of the 
Government, being duly sworn, testified as follows: 

Direct examination by Mr. M cGohey: 

Q. What is your occupation, l\fr. l\foakley1 A. I am a 
Motor Vehicle license examiner, cornn1onlv known as a mo-
tor vehicle inspector. " 

The Court: State of New York~ 
The Witness : Yes, sir. 

Q. Mr. Moakley, I show you Government's Exhibit 189 
fo; ~dentification, and I ask you if you have produced the 
original of that document pursuant to subpoena (handing) 7 
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Mr. Sacher: I object to this question, unless the 
witness's duties and qualifications to answer the 
question are adduced because-

The Court: Overruled. 
1\fr. Sacher: -because it is simply a question 

of looking at it. 
The Witness: Shall I answer the question, your 

Honor~ 
The Court: Certainly, answer the question. 

A. Yes, this is the original application of which you had a 
photostatic copy. 

The Court: You have the original right there, 
(T-9681) have you~ 

The Witness: Yes, sir. 
The Court: Pursuant to subpoena 7 
The Witness: Yes, sir. 
1fr. McGohey: That is all, thank you, ~Ir. Moak-

ley. 

(Witness starts to leave the witness stand.) 

Mr. Sacher: Just one question, Mr. Moakley. 
The Court: Yes, Mr. J\ioakley, this is cross-

examination. 

Cross exa'mination by ~fr. Sacher: 

Q. Did you remove the original from the files of the 
Motor Vehicle Bureau yourself1 A. No, I did n9t. 

Mr. Sacher: That's all, Mr. Moakley. 

Redirect examination by llfr. JY!cGohey: 

Q. Where, did you bring this from, J\Ir. J\Ioakley Y A. 
I brought this from the Motor Vehicle Bureau where a clerk 
had removed it from the files. 

Mr. Sacher~ I move to strike that out, that the 
clerk had removed that from the files. 

The Court: Motion denied. 
Mr. McGohey: Thank you, Mr. :1\foakley. 
The Court: That's enough nonsense about this 

paper. 

(Witness excused.) 
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(T-9682) J\!r. J\fcGohey: Now J\Ir. Davis, will 
you resume7 

BENJAMIN J. DAvis, resurrwd the stand. 

Cross exmnination continued by Mr. lJ.1cGohey: 

Q. Mr. Davis, I show you this paper, this original of 
Governnwnt's Exhibit 189 for identification, and I ask you 
now, looking at the original, if that isn't your original sig­
nature which appears there (handing) 1 A. It looks very 
lllUCh like it. 

:Mr. ~fcGohev: I offer­
The Court: ·rs it 1 
The \Vitness: I can't answer that one 'vay or 

another, your IIonor. 
The Court : All right . 
.lYir. McGohey: Now, your I-Ionor, I offer the 

photostat-! offer the original and ask leave to sub­
stitute a photostat. 

J\fr. Sacher: I object to it. 
The Court: Overruled. 

(Government's Exhibit 189 for identification re­
ceived in evidence.) 

J\Ir. J\fcGohev: ~r r. Moakley, let me have the 
original, please.· 

(l\fr. l\Ioakley hands to J\Ir. McGohey.) 

1\ir. ~fcGohey: I n1ay read fron1 the original, 
(T-9683) may I not 7 

The Court: Yes, you 1nay read frorn the originaL 
J\fr. McGohey: Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, 

I read from the original of Government's Exhibit 
189 in evidence, bearing the signature of Benjamin 
J. Davis, Jr., and just above that appears: "I, the 
undersigned, state that the inforn1ation I have given 
in the foregoing application is true to the best of my 
knowledge, information and belief," and question 
No. 17 in this application is: "Have you ever been 
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found guilty of any offense in any court,'' and the 
space for the answer is filled in "No." 

Thank you, .:\Ir. lVIoakley (handing). 

By Mr. J.lfcGohey: 

Q. X ow :Mr. Davis, were you lying to this jury or were 
you lying to the Bureau of 1Iotor Vehicles when you an­
swered that question-

~Ir. Sacher: I object to that question. 

Q. -that you had never hecu-

:Jlr. Sacher: T withdraw the objection. 

A. I wasn't lying to either. 
Q. No\v during the period frmn April 1, 1945, to July 

20, 1948, you were a nwrnher of the National Board of the 
Communist Party, were you not 1 (T-9684) A. April 
what1 

Q. April1, 1943. A. To \vhat1 
Q. To July 20, 1948. A. Yes. 
Q. And during that period did you ever disagree with 

any decision, resolution or progran1 of the Communist 
Party or a National Convention or the National Board or 
the National Cmnmiitee, and, if so, where \Vas your dis­
agreement recorded or published 1 

l\Ir. Sacher: I object. 
The Court: Overruled . 

.A. I can't recall \vhether I ever did. 
Q. ..:-\_s a rna tter of fact, you didn't ever disagree, did 

you, Mr. Davis 1 A. I couldn't answer that question. I 
just told you I don't recall. 

Q. Very well. A. That's not material anyway, because 
we have majority decision and opinion in our Party, and 
those who are defeated in the vote, why, they abide by the 
democratic decision of the n1ajority. 

Q. But you never disagreed with those decisions after 
they were arrived at~ A. I don't know; I may have at 
some tiine during the long three-year period that you men­
tion there. 
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Q. After they were arrived at by the National (T-9685) 
Board or the National Committee or the National Conven­
tion you say you may have disagreed with them 1 A. After 
they were arrived at, if I disagreed with them as a good­
as a disciplined Communist, I carry them out because I 
accept that when I join the Con1n1unist Party. 

Mr. McGahey: Very well. 
Your witness. 
Mr. Sacher: .1\Iay I trouble you, 1\fr. McGohey, 

for Exhibit 187 f 

(Mr. McGahey hands to Mr. Sacher.) 

Mr. Sacher: Thank you. 

(T-9686) Redirect examination by Mr. Sacher: 

Q. I hold in 1ny hand, 1fr. Davis, Government's Exhibit 
187, which purports to be your petition to the Honorable 
Virlyn Moore, Judge of the Superior Court of Fulton 
County, for admission to the Bar of the Superior Court. I 
take it that is what this is, Nir. Davis~ A. It is a court 
of general jurisdiction there in Georgia. 

Yes, Superior Court of Georgia. 
Q. Thank you. I notice in this Exhibit 187 the address 

230 Boulevard Northeast, Atlanta. Do you notice that, 
Mr. Davis' A. Yes. 

Q. Whose address was that1 A. That was the address 
of my home, my father-

Q. And how long- A. -and mother. 
Q. And how long prior to the date of your application 

in January 1932 to Judge Moore had your father main­
tabled that residence at 230 Boulevard Northeast? 

l\fr. McGahey: Objection. 
The Court: I will allow it. 

A. Oh, for more than-I think for more than 10 years. 
Q. Your father was a pretty well known citizen in At­

lanta, wasn't he f 

Mr. McGahey: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 

(T-9687) Q. Did you regard 2.30 Boulevard Northeast 
as your residence while you attended AmherstT 

LoneDissent.org



8531 

Benjarni·n J. Davis-Defendant-Redirect 

l\1r. McGohey: Objection. 
lvlr. Sacher: Residence, your Honor, is a mat-

ter of intention. 
The Court: A man make a petition for admis­

sion to the Bar and states that he is residing at a 
certain place for ten years certainly can't mean that 
he has been off to Baltimore and off to Chicago. 

Mr. Sacher: That is not the question. I am 
talking about Amherst and not Baltimore or Chicago. 
I will get to those cities, but at the mon1ent I am 
talking about Amherst, about a college student who 
is off to college. What is his residence 1~ Is his 
residence his hmne or a dormitory~ 

:Mr. McGohey: The question of where his resi­
dence was at the time he was a student at Amherst 
was not gone into on cross-examination at all. 

The Court: No. 
:Mr. Sacher: This covers a 10-year period and 

that falls within that ten-year period. 
The Court: I think it obviously means the 10 

years in1mediately before the filing and signing of 
the petition, not when he was in school. 1 

Mr. Sacher: But the 10 years immediately 
(T-9688) preceding includes that time. 

The Court: I don't want to argue it. I sustain 
the objection. I know what you are up to. I don't 
·want to hear any argument. I sustain the objection. 

Mr. Sacher: This is a fact. 
The Court: Please stop arguing. 

Q. Were you at Amherst at any time within the 10 years 
immediately preceding January 5, 1932? 

Mr. McGohey: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Were you at Harvard Law School at any time dur­
ing the 10-year period immediately preceding the date of 
your filing of the petition which is Government's Exhibit 
1871 

Mr. McGohey: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 
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Q. Did yo~ intend your fatl~or'~ resid~nce to be Y?Ur 
residence dunng the 10-year penod nnmed1ately preced1ng 
the filing of this petition wLich is Governrnent 's Exhibit 
1877 

Mr. lvicGohey: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Did you intend to deceive J uJge Virlyn :Moore when 
you filed this petition, Government's Exhibit 187~ 

11r. McGahey: Objection. 
(T-9689) The Court: I will allow it. 

A. No. 
Q. Will you tell tho Court and jury who ~Ir. Austin T. 

Walden was, one of the tv,~o lawyers who sponsored you for 
admission to the Bar in Georgia~ 

Mr. 11cGobey: Objection. 
The Court : Sustained. 

Q. ].,or how many years bad you known l\fr. Walden 
prior to the tirne that he signed your petition for admis­
sion to the Georgia Bar~ 

1Ir. J\IcGohey: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Did you know :.Mr. Thon1as J. Henry, Jr., the other 
law)·er who sponsored you for admission to the Georgia 
Bar7 

Mr. McGahey: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. For how many years had you kno\vn Mr. Henry 1 

Mr. McGohey: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 

·Q. What was your residence for the 10-year period 
preceding the date of your filing of this petition, Govern­
ment's Exhibit 187~ A. 230 Boulevard. r:rhat is the 1vay 
I considered it. 

l\Ir. Sacher: M·ay I trouble.you for Exhibit 189, 
please? 

(T-9690) Mr. McGohey: Surely (handing). 
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Q. Will you please state to the jury on what grounds 
you believe 230 BouleYard Northeast to be your residence¥ 

l\fr. l\IcGohey: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Did you believe it in good faith to be your residence 
at the time you filed Governrnent 's Exhibit 187 with Judge 
Virlyn 1Ioore ~ 

:Mr. :McGahey: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 
l-Ie has already answered that. 

Q. N O\v, ~fr. Dn \·is, 011 eross-examination Nlr. McGohey 
asked you whcthc•r you had lied to the 1fotor Vehicle 
Bureau or whether you had lied to this jury concerning the 
incidents to which yon tcstifieu in regard to the rmnmission 
of offenses. Do you recall that~ A. Yes. 

Q. At the time that you signed this Government's Ex­
hibit 189, if you signed it, did you intend to deceive the 
Motor -Vehicle Bureau as to \Vhether you had been found 
guilty of violating the segregation la\vs of Atlanta, Geor­
gia1 A. No. 

Mr. l\IcGohey: Objection, and I n1ove to strike 
the answer. 

The Court: I will allow it. The question in 
(T-9691) substance is when he put "No" to that 
answer did he intend to deceive the Motor Vehicle 
Bureau 1 

J\Ir. Sacher: Precisely. 
The Court: I will allow it. 

A. No, I diu not. 
Q. \Vill you please explai'n your answer 7 

l\fr. NicGohey: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Did you believe that the violation of segregation 
laws would be regarded an offense by the Motor Vehicle 
Bureau in the City of New York 1 

Mr. :1ticGohey: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 
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He is supposed to answer the questions truth­
fully. 

1\ir. Sacher: vVell, in view of your Honor's ob­
servation then I ask that the witness be given an 
opportunity to state whether at tho time that he 
signed this great serious docun1ent, the application 
for an automobile license,-

The Court: You can't belittle it that way. 
Mr. Sacher: No, it is a great serious document. 
The Court: I see you do that all the time. 
Mr. Sacher: I wish to apologize. I have a prop­

er regard for motor vehicle licenses. 
The Court: It would be better if you do less 

( T -9692) of that. 
Mr. Sacher: In light of your Honor's observa­

tion I ought to be able to elicit the attitude of this 
witness at the time of this application some 20 
years after that event in regard to the offense of 
violating the segregation laws of Georgia. That is 
all I wish to have so that the jury may see what 
his state of mind was. 

The Court : I thought he didn't even remember 
putting it down. 

Mr. Sacher: That is not what he was asked. 
The Court: He was asked whether he said that 

and he answered it that way. 
Mr. Sacher: I don't remen1ber at the moment. 
The Court: That is what I thought I heard him 

say a little while ago. 
1\ir. Sacher: He wasn't asked that; he was asked 

whether the signature on this photostat was his sig­
nature and he confessed to inability to recognize it 
on the photostat. But this specific question was not 
asked of him. · 

The Court: I sustain the objection. 
Now we will take-
Mr. McGohey: If the Court please, the witness 

testified on direct examination that he had been con­
victed twice. 

(T-9693) The Court: Yes, I know. 
Mr. Sacher: And I think Mr. McGohey disproved 

one conviction. 
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The Court: That is a matter of inference. My 
own recollection is that at the first he had been fined 
$10 and sentence suspended. If that 1neans any­
thing that means he was convicted one time. 

Mr. Sacher: That is not an offense I understand. 
The Court: The second one I understood him to 

say he had been convicted down in Georgia, and 
having been convicted twice he answered this ques­
tion which asked him whether he had ever been con­
victed for any offense "No." 

Mr. Sacher: I should point out that the decisions 
in the State of New York in regard to the offense of 
disorderly conduct is that that does not constitute 
an offense. 

The Court:'. If that is what he wants to explain 
I will permit him to do that. 

J\fr. McGohey: That is not the fact. There is a 
provision distinguishing offenses from other forms 
of crime, but the statement 1fr. Sacher makes is not 
accurate. 

Mr. Sacher: Do I understand Mr. McGohey to 
say that an applicant who gets a $5 or $10 fine for 
picketing is disqualified from getting an automobile 
license~ 

(T-9694) Mr. McGahey: The question is not 
one of disqualification; the question is whether you 
are telling the truth when you are asked to answer 
a question, and particularly when you make an af­
firmation that the answers to the questions are true. 

The Court: I have an idea this is about the time 
to go home. 

Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, remember the 
admonition I have heretofore given you. Do not dis­
cuss the case among yourselves and do not let the 
matter be discussed by anyone with you. You will 
express no opinion of the merits of this controversy 
until finally submitted to you under the instructions 
of the Court. 

We will now take a recess until tomorrow morn­
ing at 10.30. 

(Adjourned to July 13, 1949, at 10.30 a.m.) 
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(T-9695) New York, July 13, 1949; 
10.30 o'clock a. m. 

TRIAL RESUMED 

BENJAMIN J. DAvrs, resurnod the stand. 

(The Court and the clerk confer.) 

Tho Court: Let the record show that the jury 
is present and the defendants and the attorneys for 
the defendants, with the exception of Mr. 1\icCabe, 
Mr. Isserman and Mr. Gladstein, with respect to 
whom I am informed the usual stipulation is being 
prepared for signature and filing, and the attorneys 
for the Government are present. 

Tho Court: You may proceed, 1\-fr. Sacher. 
Mr. l\1cGohey: If the Court please, before the 

examination starts I have some photostats of the 
exhibits which the Governn1ent introduced yesterday 
for the Court and I have another set for 1\ir. Sacher 
(handing). 

The Court: Very good. 
You may proceed, Mr. Sacher. 

Redirect examination contin~ted by il1r. Sacher: 

Q. Mr. Davis, yesterday afternoon l\fr. McGohey on 
cross-examination asked you the following questions and 
(T-9696) you n1ade the following answers thereto at page 
9675: 

"Q. You told us in your direct examination that in the 
course of your can1paign in 1945 for re-election to the City 
Council you spoke about the Schneiderman decision- A. 
Yes. 

''Q. -in your can1paign. And you told us that even the 
Supreme Court-you said, rather, in your campaign that 
even in 1943 the Supreme Court had handed down the 
Schneiderman decision, 'showing that our Party did not 
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advocate force and violence'; you testified to that in your 
direct examination~ '' 

And you answered, "I think I did." 
Do you recall those questions and answers? A. I do. 

1\!Ir. Sacher : Now if the Court please, on the 
basis of the questions and answers put by Mr. Mc­
Gohey to Mr. Davis yesterday afternoon concerning 
the Schneiderman decision and more particularly on 
the basis of Mr. McGahey's actual quotation from 
pages 148 and 153 of the decision of the Supreme 
Court in Schneiderman against United States in 320 
U. S. 118 I now offer the decision of the majority of 
the Supreme Court in evidence. 

The Court : Justice Murphy's opinion¥ 
Mr. Sacher: That is the decision of the Supreme 

iCourt. 
(T-9697) The Court: I say, that is the onef 
Mr. Sacher: That is right. 
The Court : You don't offer any of the other 

opinions, either the concurring or dissenting opin­
ions~ 

Mr. Sacher: That is correct, your Honor. 
The Court: Very well. 
Mr. McGohey: If the Court please, I object to 

the admission of the opinion. 
The Court: Objection sustained. 
Mr. Sacher: Now if it please the Court, I offer 

in evidence pages 14 7 to 159 of the opinion of the 
majority of the Supreme Court in Schneiderman 
against U. S. in 320 U. S. 118 and I should like an 
opportunity to be heard, if I may in support of this 
second offer. 

Mr. McGohey: That is what? 
Mr. Sacher: 147 to 159. 
The Court: What puzzles me is that I should 

suppose that the thing has been sufficiently gone into. 
Now Mr. Davis particularly yesterday afternoon, as 
I remember it, made ·clear what his view as to that 
quotation that was formally in the answer made by 
Mr. Foster to one of the Herald Tribune questions, 
and 11r. McGohey has made clear his position on 
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behalf of the Government that there were two other 
parts of the opinion and there it is. 

Now the rest is a matter of legal argument that 
(T-9698) is of no concern to the jury and would 
only serve to confuse them it would seem to me. I 
think the position of 1\fr. Davis is pretty clear about 
it. I will, however, glance at those pages but my 
feeling is that going into those legal matters which 
in all these cases are intricate and difficult of un­
derstanding even by lawyers who are not particu­
larly well versed in the special field would only make 
·confusion. But I will look at those pages after I 
hear what Mr. McGohey has to say. 

:Nir. Sacher: But may I first be heard as to the 
reasons why I think they ought to be received, your 
Honor? 

The Court: Well, 1\fr. Sacher, I hesitate to do 
that because almost every time I allow you to state 
your reasons you make what I consider to be a brief 
interlocutory summation to the jury. 

Mr. Sacher: No, I do not intend to do that. 
The Court: And you appear not to be arguing 

to me at all but, rather, to the jury, and I don't like 
that. 

Mr. Sacher : I don't think I have done that but, 
in any event, I promise your Honor I shan't do it 
this time. 

The Court : You see, I am very familiar with 
the difference between legal questions, which my 
whole life has been taken up with arguing, discuss­
ing and hearing, ( T -9699) and I know when I 
hear a legal argument and I know the difference be­
tween that and a factual matter, which is the sort of 
thing that should be argued at the end of the case. 

Now let me first see whether there is objection 
and read the pages, and then I will consider whether 
I will hear you. 

Mr. McGohey: I do object to the pages as of .. 
fered, your Honor. 

The Court: Now let me look at them. 

(Proffered exhibit handed to the Court.) 
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The Court : I will excuse the jury for a few 
moments. 

(The jury leaves the courtroom.) 

'l1he Court: Now, before I hear you, Mr. Sacher, 
let me 1nake a very brief staten1ent as to how this 
matter seems to 1ne. It was injected into the case 
first, as I remember it, by the defense offering those 
three questions and answers which were part of the 
group of questions submitted by the Herald Tribune 
and answered by Mr. Foster. 

It may well be, indeed it seems to me, that if a 
person unlearned in the law should read that answer 
of A!fr. ]j-,oster to the third question, they would get 
the impression that Mr. Foster was saying that the 
Supreme (T-9700) Court had held that it was not 
a part of the tenets of the Com1nunist Party to over­
throw the Government by force and violence and yet 
all the Supreme Court in the opinion of J\ir. Justice 
Murphy was saying was that it was a tenable view 
on the evidence then before the Court on that par­
ticular case. It did not hold at all that it was so. 
Indeed, the rest of the opinion made it very clear 
that they took the position that the matter was not 
before them and not in issue and they were not going 
to decide it. 

Now, that having been interjected in that way by 
Mr.-by one of the counsel for the defense, Mr. 
McGohey very properly brought out that there were 
other parts of the opinion, which he briefly quoted, 
which showed that the Court in this very same opin­
ion of 1Ir. Justice Murphy had stated that it was not 
an issue and that they were not deciding it. 

Now, the pertinency of that, as I see it at the 
moment, is to inquire, as Mr. McGohey did, as to 
whether, when Mr. Foster put that part of the an­
swer in about the Schneiderman case and when 
others made speeches about it, did they fairly state 
what was there or give such a partial statement, by 
the omission of these other parts, that that might be 
misleading. Now, if all this other material of a 
highly technical character, ·which the (T-9701) 

LoneDissent.org



8540 

Colloquy of Court and Counsel 

jury ·could not possibly understand without taking a 
regular course in constitutional law, were brought 
in, I have grave doubt as to how it is going to be 
helpful and do anything other than make confusion. 

Now, let me hear what you have to say with that 
in mind. 

Mr. Sacher: I should like to say this first, your 
Honor. I think that early in the trial your Honor 
said that what we are concerned about, or rather 
what you regarded the case as being concerned with 
was not the objective facts as such but what the de­
fendants taught and advocated concerning them. 
Consequently, throughout tho trial, your I-I on or has 
limited definitions and factual statements to their 
significance or meaning to tho defendants and not 
in terms of their objective reality. I mention that 
because I believe that in deference to that principle, 
as·suming it to be sound, and for present purposes 
we must regard it as sound in view of the fact that 
your Ilonor has laid that down as the guiding prin­
ciple of the trial. Was it a n1aterial question as to 
whether or not l\ir. Foster correctly reflected the de­
cision of the Supreme Court. I say that in obedience 
to the principle that your Honor laid down that that 
was not an important question, not a relevant ques­
tion. Indeed the signifiance of Mr. Foster's 
(T-9702) statement lay in the fact that regardless 
of what the Supren1e Court actually decided, he and 
the Communist Party, by adopting that interpreta­
tion and ·construction of the opinion of the Supreme 
Court, were saying in so many words, ''Our Party 
teaches and advocates social change by peaceful 
means.'' 

That's what he said, regardless of what the deci­
sion said. Indeed, I think it would be valid in fol­
lowing through your Honor's premise to say that if 
the Supreme Court decision said quite the opposite, 
the fact that Mr. Foster and the Communist Party 
were using language from the Supreme Court in sup­
port of a thesis and teaching that they teach and ad­
vocate peaceful ·change was the sole significance of 
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that docun1ent if we are to have regard to your Hon­
or's major premise, so to speak, in the case. 

Now what has happened as a result of the in­
troduction of that has been a cross-examination by 
Mr. McGohey, in the course of which, I think it is 
fair to say, on the basis of the record as it stands, 
that the cross-examiner intended, or regardless of 
his intention, the effect was to accomplish one or 
both of two things: first, to establish objectively 
that the decision of the Supreme Court did not hold 
what Mr. Foster and Mr. Davis and Mr. Green stated 
it to hold; (T-9703) se·condly, that the defendants 
or those of them who testified to their opinion or 
view or belief of what the Supreme Court opinion 
decided, and 11r. Foster, had misstated the decision 
of the Supreme Court. On either ground, therefore, 
it becomes relevant and material for the defense to 
have an opportunity to lay before the jury those 
portions of the 1najor.ity decision which would, 1, 
tend to rebut the charge of the prosecution or claim 
of the prosecution that the decision does not reflect 
that status which the defendants attributed to that 
decision; and, in any event, in view of your Honor's 
major premise, to support their view of the decision 
as being a reasonable view in the light of all that 
was said. 

Now in the pages which I have latterly submitted· 
for receipt in evidence, there appear passages on the 
basis of which I respectfully submit as a matter of 
law the defendants were fully warranted in saying 
to the people of the country that the decision of the 
Supreme Court showed._and that was the language, 
if your Honor will recall the record-

The Court: Let me get that exhibit out. 
What is the number of that exhibit with those 

questions~ 
Mr. Bailey: 6 X E. 
(T-9704) 1fr. Sacher: 6 x E is itf 
Mr. Bailey: Yes. 
The Court: Let me get that before me. 
Mr. Sacher: My last reference, your Honor, is 

to Mr. Davis's testin1ony which was incorporated, I 
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think, in the question which I read to him this morn­
ing (examining); yes, that appears at 9675, your 
Honor, at the bottorn of the page. 

The Court: You see, it was a denaturalization 
proceeding there. 

Mr. Sacher: That is correct. 
The Court: And the subject is a most intricate 

one as a matter of law. If you 'vere to take the aver­
age lawyer, not specially skilled in that phase of the 
law, it would probably take him about a week with 
constant study before he could reasonably under­
stand all the implications that are in there, and you 
open the door a little bit here and the first thing 
you know there will be hopeless -confusion in the 
minds of the jury about it, but let me go back. 

Mr. Sacher : You see, I would like to make one 
point, if I 1nay, your Honor, preliminary to your 
looking at pages 6 and 7 of 6 x E for identification, 
because I think that the formulation of Mr. Foster's 
answer really demonstrates beyond all doubt that 
cross-examination (T-9705) as to other parts of 
the opinion was clearly, if not improper, if not er­
roneous, then certainly cross-examination on that 
should no'v afford us the opportunity to lay all of 
the decision before the jury, because in answering 
the question ''Does the Communist Party advocate 
the overthrow of the United States Government by 
force and violence or by any other unconstitutional 
means 1 '' Mr. Foster said the following-he did not 
Inake any representation as to what the Supreme 
Court decided. He said: 

"We'll let the Supreme Court of the United 
States answer this question for us.'' 

The Court: Now right there­
Mr. Sacher: Yes. 
The Court: -doesn't that g·ive the inference that 

the Supreme Court did answer the question¥ 
Mr. Sacher: Your Honor, no-
The Court: But-
Mr. Sacher: You are taking it out of context. 
The Court : I can't get any other meaning. 
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Mr. Sacher: Let us read the whole thing. Bear 
with me for a moment. 

The Court: Let us stop at that part. The ques­
tion is: Does the Communist Party advocate the 
overthrow of the United States ·Government by force 
(T-9706) and violence or by any other unconstitu­
tional means~ 

''Answer: We'll let the Supreme Court of the 
United States answer this question for us.'' 

Now so far you certainly get the impression that 
the Supreme Court did answer the question, whereas 
as a matter of fact it did not at all. 

:.Mr. Sacher: Suppose then, for purposes of ar­
gument but without conceding the validity of it I go 
along with your Honor to the extent of that first 
sentence. 

The Court: All right. 
Mr. Sacher: Then he says in the succeeding sen­

tence as follows : 

''In its decision in the Schneiderman case, June, 
1943, after examining exhaustively, on the one hand, 
the charges that the Communist Party advocates a 
violent seizure of power, and on the other hand, the 
practices and doctrines of the Party, including the 
writings of ~1:arx, Lenin and Stalin, the Court said: 

'' 'A tenable conclusion from the foregoing is 
that the Party in 1927 desired to achieve its purpose 
by peaceful and democratic means, and as a theore­
tical matter justified the use of force and violence 
only as a method of preventing an attempted force­
able counter-overthrow once the Party had obtained 
control in a peaceful (T-9707) manner, or as a 
method of last resort to enforce the majority will ifl 
at ,some indefinite time in the future, because of 
peculiar circumstances, ·Constitutional or peaceful 
channels were no longer open.' '' 

But here is the decisive sentence-
The Court: But .so far, the average untutored 

and even lawyer reading this would get the impres-
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sion, so far, that the Supreme Court had decided 
that, whereas they did not. 

Now let us hear these vital words that you are 
speaking of. 

Mr. Sacher : Now the words that are vi tal are 
the following: 

"We Communists accept this formulation as a 
fair statement of our attitude toward the question 
of political violence.'' 

In other words, what :Nfr. Foster is saying there 
is, "We adopt this. This is our attitude toward 
force and violence. We believe in peaceful demo­
·cratic means of achieving Socialism, etc." And I 
therefore say that this constitutes-and I have no ob­
jection to reading the balance; it only fortifies what 
I said-

The Court: I had no such thought that you ob­
ject to reading the balance. That is all right. 

(T-9708) Mr. Sacher: The point I am making 
is solely this: that when reference was made here 
to the Supreme Court decision that the sole issue 
that was raised by the reference to the Supreme 
Court decision in Mr. Foster's answer to the ques­
tion was the issue as to whether or not the Com­
munist Party and Mr. Foster really meant what they 
said here, not whether other parts of the Supreme 
Court decision tended to or did not negate the valid­
ity or the correctness or the implications of what 
was said; for let's bear this in mind: the fact that 
there are other statements in the opinion which the 
prosecution contends either conflict with or explain 
away or modify fortifies the position we are taking 
here because if the prosecution is correct then there 
were alternatives, there were choices which the Com­
munist Party could then make out of that opinion 
and which choice did it make1 It made the choice of 
that portion of the opinion which described its pro­
gram and policies as being peaceful and democratic . 
.And therefore I say this was the teaching and ad­
vocacy. 
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The Court : You don't think a person reading 
this would get the impression that Mr. Foster was 
saying that the Supreme Court had decided that they 
didn't advocate any use of force and violence! I 
don't see how you could read it without getting that 
impression. 

(T-9709) Mr. Sacher: Let's assume that they 
did. As a matter of fact that again strengthens our 
position because whether they be tutored or un­
tutored if they \vere led to believe by the Communist 
Party that the Supren1e Court of the United States, 
the highest court of the land, had found judicially 
that the Communist Party does not teach and advo­
cate force and violence, then everybody would know, 
the Supreme Court having said so, that you don't ex­
pect when you join the Communist Party and you 
don't participate in any forceful and violent action, 
but on the contrary you are to expect when you join 
a party of peaceful and democratic teaching and 
advocacy. 

The Court: But the Supreme Court did not de­
cide that. That is where the misleading part comes 
in. 

Mr. Sacher: What happens is the following: the 
question is not what the Supreme Court decided be­
cause that is your Honor '.s premise in this case, that 
that is not the basic premise, because what we are 
concerned with is teaching and advocacy, and just 
as your Honor is not concerned with what happened 
in Spain or China or India so your Honor cannot be 
concerned with what is actually in the Supreme 
Court decision but must be concerned solely with 
the teaching and advocacy of the Communist Party 
concerning that de·cision; (T-9710) and therefore 
what my position here is is as follows: that when 
the prosecution moved into the area of demonstrat­
ing that the decision held something different from: 
that which, as your Honor -says, was the decision 
as described by the Communist Party or Mr. Foster 
or the defendants here, then I say that what hap­
pened then was that the so-called objective reality 
was intruding its ugly head into the case and once 
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objective reality is here then we must have objec­
tive reality; we can't have bits and pieces. 

The Court: Now you get into this kind of talk 
that I don't understand. Every once in a while it 
gets off into this mist and it becomes obscured. I 
don't know where we are going. \Ve are groping 
around. 

I know this much: that when this paper came in, 
this exhibit with these questions and answers, I 
thought it was offered to show what had been said 
and adopted by various of these defendants on this 
question of force and violence. Now their good 
faith in the matter, their intent in the matter is a 
most material element. 

Mr. Sacher: Precisely. 
The Court: And if they state a matter that is 

misleading, that gives an impression that is not a 
just and proper impression I felt it was entirely 
right (T-9711) to permit Mr. McGohey to show 
what was true also, narnely, that the Supreme Court 
while it did make the statements contained in the 
answer, it also stated that it was not deciding that 
question and that that question was not an issue be­
fore it. 

Now there, on this matter of good faith and in­
tent, I should suppose the matter should rest. 

Mr. Sacher: Ah! But what has happened is the 
following: No. 1, the thing that is material in the 
case, the thing that is relevant is the teaching and 
advocacy of the Communist Party as your Honor 
has-

The Court: Yes, not just what the defendants 
say the teaching and advocacy was. There is another 
little difficulty. You all have taken the position that 
if a defendant says something or writes something 
then that is the end of that, that is positive fact; 
whereas it may be that he said that ·with his tongue 
in his cheek intending just the opposite perhaps or 
intending something different, and whenever we get 
into that field beyond the mere statement of a thing 
as being so you resist it. Now there is a dispute. 
There are two sideH, not just one. 
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(T-9712) ~fr. Sacher: No, but the point is­
The Court: Now, there is a dispute here. There 

are two sides, not just one. 
Jvir. Sacher: My argument this morning pro­

ceeds on your Honor's premise, and not on any prem­
ise of my own. In other words, this question and 
answer, you will recall the testimony, was taught by 
Mr. Green in school. Therefore, this is the teaching 
and advocacy at least in that instance, and then you 
have 1fr. Davis's teaching and advocacy in the cam­
paign speeches of Nineteen-

The Court: Let me ask you a question. Let us 
take an assu1nption. Let us assume that when Mr. 
Green was teaching in the class about the force and 
violence and telling them about what the Supreme 
Court had decided, let us assume that all the time he 
·was doing that he knew as a positive fact that they 
had not decided, and yet he was going ahead just the 
same and telling the students, ''Now, the Supreme 
Court has held that this Party does not use any 
force and violence at all,'' but he know.s all the time 
that they did not decide that. N o·w, do you think the 
fact that that was so, assuming it to be so, would be 
material-

Mr. Sacher: No. 
The Court : -bearing on intent 1 
Mr. Sacher: It would be material but in the 

(T-9713) opposite way that your Honor's question 
implies because the important question is what did 
he actually teach and advocate on the question of 
force and violence and not on the decisions of the 
Supreme Court, because the point I am making is 
that even if the Supreme Court decision said the 
contrary, if, in order to teach peaceful, democratic 
change and in order to induce in his listeners a be­
lief in and a participation in democratic and peace­
ful change, he stated that a decision held something 
that it did not, that should be to his credit and not 
to his discredit, because it then fortifies the deter­
mination of the Communist Party and its National 
Board members and its teachers to teach and advo­
cate peaceful change. 

LoneDissent.org



8548 

Colloquy of Court and Counsel 

The Court: Supposing that to be so, how would 
that n1ake the use of this opinion ad1nissible? It 
would simply confuse. 

Mr. Sacher: No, because what happened here, 
your Honor, is this : lVIr. ~fcGohey has gone under 
the teaching and advocacy with a view to establish­
ing that the decision may have had other statmnents 
which negated the passage quoted and that the de­
cision itself was different frorn what was, they be­
lieved, to have been the decision as stated and, there­
fore, seeking to undermine both the objective founda­
tion of the teaching and advocacy and, (T-9714) 
secondly, to impair the good faith and bona fide in­
tention of the defendants and, therefore, the pur­
pose now is to rebut that by showing the entire con­
text in which the two sentences quoted by ~Ir. ~{c­
Gohey from the opinion appear so that the jury may 
.see whether or not this was just a lot of mumbo­
jumbo or whether there was a solid objective basis 
for this opinion, in the first place, and, secondly, 
whether or not there was a distortion and a misrep­
resentation of the teaching and advocacy of the Com­
munist Party. 

The Court: Let me hear from Mr. 1\fcGohey. 
D'efendant Dennis : May I be heard? 
The Court: Yes, I will hear you first, 1\tlr. Dennis. 
Defendant Dennis: As the Court knows, in an 

effort to substantiate the grotesque allegations set 
forth in the indictment and in the case of the prose­
cution, the prosecution brought into evidence iso­
lated quotations from a number of Marxist-Leninist 
classics, and amongst those quotations taken out of 
context were excerpts from the Communist ~.fani­
festo, from State and Revolution and Foundations 
of Leninism. 

We, the defendants, have shown our understand­
ing of these classics as well as the doctrine of Marx­
ism-Leninism as a whole. We have placed before 
the Court our interpretation of what actually we ad­
vocated and taught. 

(T-9715) Now, I think the Supreme Court deci­
sion in relation to this case is highly relevant and ma-
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terial because, in addition to what vve defendants 
have set forth before the Court, we have an ex­
pression, a judicial opinion of the majority of the 
Supreme Court on three of the classics whi<lh the 
Government itself has brought into the case, namely, 
the 11anifesto, State and Revolution and Founda­
tions of Leninism, and I think it would be appro­
priate to quote that part which-

The Court: You may read anything you want. 
Defendant Dennis: In the decision. 
The Court: As long as you bear in mind what 

you are trying to argue to me is to put in these pages 
of the opinion which 1\ir. Sacher is offering. 

Defendant Dennis: rrhat is right; that is right. 
Preceding-

The Court: Keep your eye on that ball and, 
vvhatever you say, I will listen to you. 

Defendant Dennis: Preceding the quotation con­
tained in Mr. Foster's answer to question 3 of the 
Herald-Tribune, Judge 1\furphy's opinion states, 
''The reality of the conflict in the record before us 
can be pointed out quickly. Of the relevant prior to 
1927 documents relied upon by the Government, three 
are writings of outstanding Marxist philosopher·s 
and leaders, the fourth (T-9716) is a world pro­
gram. The Manifesto of 1848 was proclaimed in an 
autocratic Europe engaged in suppressing the abor­
tive liberal revolutions of that year. With this back­
ground, its tone is not surprising. Its authors later 
stated, however, that there were certain countries, 
'·such as the United States and England in which 
the workers may hope to secure their ends by peace­
ful means.' Lenin doubted this in his militant work, 
the State and Revolution, but this was written on the 
eve of the Bolshevist revolution in Russia and may 
be interpreted as intended in part to justify the Bol­
shevist course and refute the anarchists and social 
democrats. Stalin declared that Marx's exemption 
for the United States and England was no longer 
valid. He wrote, however, that 'the proposition that 
the prestige of the Party can be built upon violence 
. . . is absurd and absolutely incompatible with 
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Leninism.' And Lenin wrote 'In order to obtain the 
power of the state the class-conscious workers must 
win the majority to their side. As long as no vio­
lence is used against the masses, there is no other 
road to power. vV e are not Blanquists, we are not in 
favor of the seizure of power by a minority.' The 
1938 constitution of the Connr1unist Party of the 
United States, which the petitioner claimed to be the 
first and only (T-9717) written constitution ever 
officially adopted by the Party and which he asserted 
enunciated the principles of the Party as he under­
stood them from the beginning of his membership, 
ostensibly eschews resort to force and violence as an 
element of party tactics.'' 

And from this exmnination of the classics, and: 
the majority of the Supreme Court taking into ac­
count the tinw, the place and the circun1stances, the 
majority of the court-

The Court: Now, what did they decide~ 
Def en dan t Dennis : (Continuing) They dre\v a 

conclusion-
The Court: What did they de·cide ~ Because that 

is the important thing. 
Defendant D'ennis: ''A tenable conclusion from 

the foregoing is that the Party in 1927 desired to 
achieve its purpose by peaceful and democrati0 
means, and as a theoretical matter justify the use of 
force and violence only as a method of preventing an 
attempted forcible counter-overthrow once the Party 
had obtained control in a peaceful manner,'' and then 
the decision goes on. 

Now, I would like to say to your Honor that we 
Communists know that the principles of !1arxism­
Leninism are sound, are correct, and their applica­
tion protects and advances the interests of our 
people, of all people, (T-9718) but we also know 
and believe and consider, and are reinforced in our 
consideration on the basis of the majority decision 
of the Supreme Court, that what we advocate and 
teach is not only correct and sound, it is also legal 
and ·constitutional, and it seems to me the Court-
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T·he Court: There is ·where you get to the whole 
point: Did the Supreme Court decide in that case 
that it was not one of the tenets of the Communist 
Party to advocate the overthrow of the Government 
by force and violence? And you keep indicating that 
you think they did decide that whereas it is obvious 
to any learned person who studies the opinion that 
they did not decide it and they said they did not 
decide it. 

Defendant Dennis: I do say, your Honor, the 
Supreme Court did, and it is not a matter of opinion, 
it is a fact. 

The Court: They made that statement that is 
quoted in Mr. Foster's answer. They did; that is 
in there. 

Defendant Dennis: And they expressed a judi­
cial opinion on three classics ·which have been intro­
duced into this case, and it seems to me this subject 
matter must be or should be presented before the 
jury. The jury is called upon to express certain 
opinions and draw certain (T-9719) conclusions 
regarding the whole science of Marxism-Leninism, 
whatever their wish may be. 

The Court: I am quite sure if these pages got 
before the jury the result would be utter confusion in 
their minds. I do not see how they could possibly 
understand them without a lot of explanation and 
this is not the time to have a couple of classes in 
law school to teach the jury the various things that 
would be taught to first-year law students in the 
matter of analyzing opinions of courts, and that 
would be taught in a ·Course in constitutional law to 
third-year students. 

Let me hear from Mr. McGohey. 
Defendant Dennis: I concur in the opinion-I 

am concluding,-
The Court : Yes, I am listening. 
Defendant Dennis: I concur in the opinion that 

the science of Marxism-Leninism, the doctrine of 
Marxism-Leninism in our Party, a political party of 
the working class, a Marxist party, neither our doc­
trine, our practice or our belief should be on trial 
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in any court but, since the matter has been brought 
before the Court and the jury is weighing many docu­
ments, many classics, listening to various interpre­
tations, it seems to me that the Court should allow 
this opinion of the Supreme Court before the jury; 
and it was Mr. McGohey who introduced many 
(T-9720) of the classics and who brought certain 
excerpts, additional excerpts, from Judge Murphy's 
opinion. Let the jury weigh the entire opinion. 

The Court : Now I think Mr. Crockett-
Mr. Crockett : May I be heard very briefly 1 
The Court: -is showing indications of a desire 

to speak and I will hear you, 1Ir. Crockett. 
1\{r. Crockett : One of the primary issues in this 

indictment is the character of the Communist Party. 
That is put in issue by virtue of the first paragraph 
of tho indictment, which characterizes the Commu­
nist Party as an association-as a society, group or 
assembly of persons who teach and advocate the over­
throw and destruction of the United States by force 
and violence. 

That, of course, is an allegation which the Gov­
ernt has the burden of proving. By way of proving 
that allegation, the Government has offered in evi­
dence, as Mr. Dennis just pointed out, certain docu­
ments, presumably, according to their theory, docu­
ments which indicate that it is a principle of Marx­
ism-Leninism to advocate the overthrow of the Gov­
ernment of the United States by force and violence; 
and to the extent that the defendants may have circu­
lated, used or taught from these documents, they 
necessarily taught also the duty and necessity of 
overthrowing the Government of the United States 
by force (T-9721) and violence. 

So it becomes crucial in this case whether or not 
there can be any reference or any use of these docu­
ments, the Communist Manifesto, Foundations of 
Leninism, and the other books that Mr. Dennis has 
mentioned, which doesn't necessarily constitute ad­
vocacy of the overthrow of the United States Govern­
ment by force and violence. 
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Now, obviously what is said by five distinguished 
Americans, ·who have read these books, studied them, 
becomes material to the jury as a characterization, 
shall I say, as an expert opinion of what is to be 
found in these books. 

The Court: Do you admit that the record in the 
Schneiderman case is f.ar different from the record in 
this case1 

1fr. Crockett: The over-all record 1 Yes. 
The Court: The whole record. I don't see how 

you can deny it. 
:Mr. Crockett: I said yes, but so far as-
The Court : And that record there is different 

from the record here, to say nothing of the issues of 
credibility of the witnesses, which necessarily are 
different. 

Mr. Crockett: Your Honor has already men­
tioned that the Schneiderman case was a Naturaliza­
tion proceeding-

The Court: A. denaturalization proceeding. 
(T-9722) 1fr. Crockett: A denaturalization pro­

ceeding. This is not such a proceeding. As a matter 
of fact, the element of proof in the Schneiderman 
case-rather, the rules of evidence in the Schneider ... 
man case were such that any number of documents 
could have been brought in that case which we would 
vigorously oppose in this case. 

And in that connection, let me mention this : 
The Court will recall that each time these documents 
were offered, the Manifesto, Foundations, Imperial­
ism, so forth, we stated that we had no objection to 
the con tents of the document. In other words, we 
approved the contents generally. 

The Court: Yes, I will never forget that. I was 
always puzzled by that but it doesn't mean they 
didn't get in just the same. 

Mr. Crockett: But we objected to the use of the 
documents in the manner they were being used here. 

My basic thesis is that it is the province of the 
jury to decide the character of the Communist Party 
on the basis of the testimony that is presented here. 
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Assuming that it is permissible under the Consti­
tution for us to even have such a trial as this, to that 
extent, it becomes important, material and relevant 
here to know what five justices of the Supreme Court 
think about the character of the Communist Party. 
Indeed, it becomes just as important and just as 
material as it was for (T-9723) two justices in the 
Hiss case to give character evidence. It is part of 
the same pattern. We are calling on five justices of 
the Supreme Court to say-

The Court: That is a pretty far-fetched state­
ment to say it is the san1e thing as two justices 
appearing .as character witnesses in the Hiss case. 
I do not .see the slightest parallel there. You are, 
in effect, asking me, ~Ir. Crockett, to hold that every 
time a judge writes an opinion and, in the course 
of the opinion, he discourses on some subject and 
says this and that, that that is to come in as part of 
the proof in a ease wherever the matter being dis­
cussed by the learned justice is in issue. 

Mr. Crockett: No, I am asking the Court in 
effect-

The Court: If that were so, a trial would never 
end, if lawyers could go through the books and find 
there was a judge who said this and that or the other 
thing about the subject in issue. 

Mr. Crockett: No, I am asking the Court to 
agree to the extent that the Supreme Court, at least 
five justices, have expressed a considered opinion on 
the nature of the teaching and advocacy that is to be 
found in these documents which were used by these 
defendants, that becomes important in determining 
whether or not the defendants (T-9724) could, by 
the use of those documents, teach and advocate, not 
the overthrow of the Government by force and 
violence, but Marxism-Leninism to be attained by 
peaceful and constitutional means, and the Supreme 
Court decision says in effect-

The Court: Let me hear from Mr. McGohey. 
Mr. Crockett: -that this question-
The Court: Now, what have you to say, Mr. 

McGohey1 
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Mr. McGohey: I don't know whether I need to 
.spend a great deal of time on Mr. Crockett's last 
argument, which is, as I understand it, this: these 
five judges-

The Court : You don't need to spend any time 
on that last point of Mr. Crockett's-

:Mr. J\JfcGohey: Very 'vell. 
The Court: -because the two records are en­

tirely different. 
~ir. l\fcGohey: I intend-
The Court : And even if he should be right on 

the general proposition, which I doubt, he would not 
be right when the records are different a.s they are 
here. 

Mr. :rvfcGohey: Clearly, those justices would not 
be competent witnesses even if they were brought 
here in person to give their opinion on what the 
teaching is. 

The Court: That is right. 
(T-9725) 1fr. l\{cGohey: 'Vith respect to the 

Schneidern1an case, I will only pause long enough 
to make the state1nent, which is in complete agree­
rnent with -vvhat your Honor observed, nam·ely, that 
the charge in the Schneidern1an case is entirely dif­
ferent frorn the charge here; that the facts in the 
Schneidern1an case are entirely different than here; 
and that the issue, the ultimate issue to be decided 
in the Schneidennan case, was different; and that, 
furthern1ore, the Supren1e Court in the Schneider­
man case was talking about the Party as of 1927 
and we are talking about the Party during the period 
from 1945 to July 20, 1948, and what its teaching 
and advocacy were in that period. 

No-vv, the point-
The Court: I will tell you what is troubling me 

at the n1oment, lvfr. McGohey. I am beginning to 
be convinced that I never should have let that de­
fendants' exhibit in in the first place. 

1fr. l\1:cGohey: Well, now, I desire to come to 
that right now, your Honor. 

The Court: And having let it in, how far does 
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